

THE CHINA-PAKISTAN ECONOMIC CORRIDOR POWER PROJECTS: INSIGHTS INTO ENVIRONMENTAL AND DEBT SUSTAINABILITY

BY ERICA DOWNS OCTOBER 2019

CHINA ENERGY AND CLIMATE RESEARCH PROGRAM

The *Belt and Road Initiative Paper Series* by Columbia University's Center on Global Energy Policy provides objective, analytical research and commentary.

ABOUT THE CENTER ON GLOBAL ENERGY POLICY

The Center on Global Energy Policy provides independent, balanced, data-driven analysis to help policymakers navigate the complex world of energy. We approach energy as an economic, security, and environmental concern. And we draw on the resources of a world-class institution, faculty with real-world experience, and a location in the world's finance and media capital.

Visit us at www.energypolicy.columbia.edu

🛉 🔰 🖸 @ColumbiaUenergy



ABOUT THE SCHOOL OF INTERNATIONAL AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS

SIPA's mission is to empower people to serve the global public interest. Our goal is to foster economic growth, sustainable development, social progress, and democratic governance by educating public policy professionals, producing policy-related research, and conveying the results to the world. Based in New York City, with a student body that is 50 percent international and educational partners in cities around the world, SIPA is the most global of public policy schools.

For more information, please visit www.sipa.columbia.edu

For a full list of financial supporters of the Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University SIPA, please visit our website at https://www.energypolicy.columbia.edu/partners. See below a list of members that are currently in CGEP's Visionary Annual Circle. This list is updated periodically.

Corporate Partnerships Occidental Petroleum Corporation



THE CHINA-PAKISTAN ECONOMIC CORRIDOR POWER PROJECTS: INSIGHTS INTO ENVIRONMENTAL AND DEBT SUSTAINABILITY

BY ERICA DOWNS OCTOBER 2019



1255 Amsterdam Ave New York NY 10027

www.energypolicy.columbia.edu

f 🄰 🧿 @ColumbiaUenergy

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thank Philippe Benoit, David Dollar, Nikolas Foster, David Fridley, Stephen Green, Sasha Riser-Kositsky, David Sandalow, Deborah Seligsohn, Andrew Small and three anonymous reviewers for their comments on previous drafts and Aashish Jain for research assistance.

This policy paper represents the research and views of the authors. It does not necessarily represent the views of the Center on Global Energy Policy. The paper may be subject to further revision.

This work was made possible by support from the Center on Global Energy Policy. More information is available at <u>https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/about/partners</u>.



ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Dr. Erica Downs is a Senior Research Scholar at the Center on Global Energy Policy, focusing on Chinese energy markets and geopolitics. She was formerly a CGEP non-resident Fellow and a senior research scientist in the China Studies division of the CNA Corporation. She previously worked as a senior analyst in the Asia practice at Eurasia Group, a fellow in the John L. Thornton China Center at the Brookings Institution, an energy analyst at the Central Intelligence Agency, and a lecturer at the Foreign Affairs College in Beijing, China. She holds a Ph.D. and an M.A. from Princeton University and a B.S. from the Edmund A. Walsh School of Foreign Service at Georgetown University. She is an honorary research fellow at the Centre for Energy, Petroleum and Mineral Law and Policy at the University of Dundee.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Foreword	06
Executive Summary	
Introduction	
Part 1: The CPEC Power Sector Projects	12
Why Are CPEC Power Projects Heavily Skewed toward Coal?	17
The "Pull" from Pakistan	17
Generate Cheaper Electricity	18
Conserve Foreign Exchange	19
No Better Option in the Short Term	19
Incentives for Foreign Investors	21
The "Push" from China	24
Find New Markets Abroad	24
Financial Support	27
The Need for Speed	28
Part 2: CPEC and Environmental Sustainability	30
Host Country Preferences	31
Seeing Green	32
Part 3: CPEC and Debt Sustainability	34
Sovereign Debt Risks from CPEC Power Projects	35
Deliberate Debt Trap Unlikely	38
Conclusions	41
Appendix A	43
Appendix B	45
Endnotes	49



FOREWORD

The Center on Global Energy Policy's Belt and Road Initiative Paper Series

The Belt and Road Initiative (BRI) is the largest infrastructure initiative ever. From geopolitics to markets to the natural environment, across much of the globe, its impacts are far-reaching. The Center on Global Energy Policy's Belt and Road Initiative Paper Series offers research and commentary on the BRI and its implications around the world. It covers a range of energy-related topics and offers different points of view.

In this paper, CGEP Fellow Erica Downs examines the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC), focusing on the financing and construction of coal-fired power plants by Chinese state-owned entities. The paper explores two topics that have been raised more broadly about the BRI: environmental and debt sustainability.

We welcome submissions for this series. (Please send proposed topics and outlines to <u>energypolicy@columbia.edu</u>.) Our guiding principle will be to inform readers with objective, research-based analysis. We hope to contribute to constructive global dialogue on these important topics in the months and years to come.

Davd Sandalow

Inaugural Fellow and Director, China Program Center on Global Energy Policy Columbia University

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Pakistan is increasing its use of coal to generate electricity at a time when many other countries are reducing coal use in order to cut greenhouse gas emissions or pollution. China is helping Pakistan expand its coal-fired generation capacity through the financing and construction of coal power plants as part of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC). CPEC is a component of Chinese president Xi Jinping's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), which aims to forge greater global connectivity in part through infrastructure development. Nearly 75 percent of the generation capacity of CPEC power plants is coal-fired. Pakistan's National Electric Power Regulatory Authority (NEPRA) expects that CPEC coal power plants will be largely responsible for the projected increase in the country's coal-fired generation capacity from 3 percent as of June 30, 2017 (fewer than six months after the first CPEC coal plant began commercial operation), to 20 percent in 2025.

As part of its series on the Belt and Road Initiative, Columbia University's Center on Global Energy Policy initiated research into the CPEC power sector projects, which account for the majority of the cost of CPEC projects. This paper examines two of the key concerns critics have about the BRI: environmental sustainability and debt sustainability. Concerns about environmental sustainability center on the ways in which an expansion of the amount of electricity generated globally by fossil fuels, especially coal, will increase greenhouse gas emissions, making it more difficult if not impossible to meet the emissions targets in the Paris Agreement. Concerns about debt sustainability focus on whether China's lending in support of infrastructure projects will lead to problematic increases in debt, with some analysts maintaining that Beijing is intentionally seeking to push countries into debt distress in an attempt to gain control over strategic assets or decision-making in borrowing countries.

The main findings of this study are threefold.

- First, the heavy focus on coal in the new generation capacity added by the CPEC power projects stems from both "pull" factors from Pakistan and "push" factors from China:
 - The CPEC coal power projects reflect Pakistan's long-standing goal of diversifying its generation mix away from fuel oil toward domestic coal in an attempt to decrease generation costs and conserve foreign exchange. They also reflect the perception of the administration of former prime minister Nawaz Sharif, whose pledge to end power outages helped his party win the 2013 election, that coal was the best option to bring on a large amount of new capacity in the short term. Although Pakistan has vast renewable energy potential, solar and wind power were considered too expensive and difficult to integrate into electric grids.
 - Meanwhile, Chinese companies had several reasons to sell coal power plants to Pakistan, including exporting rather than warehousing excess power generation equipment, financial incentives provided by Beijing and Islamabad, and the ability to execute projects fast enough to help Sharif eradicate the blackouts hurting Pakistan's economy before he stood for reelection in 2018.



- Second, there is a mismatch between the dominance of coal in the CPEC power generation mix and Beijing's recent emphasis on green development as an important feature of the BRI. This gap between Beijing's rhetoric and the reality on the ground can be explained in large part by Pakistan's preference for building coal-fired generation capacity. Ultimately, it is up to the host country to decide the composition of its electricity mix. The Chinese government has a long-standing reluctance to interfere in decisions of this type. Moreover, China regards some of the CPEC coal power plants as environmentally friendly because they use relatively modern technologies and are expected to emit fewer greenhouse gas emissions than the fuel oil plants Pakistan is replacing.
- Third, there is a risk that the CPEC power projects will add to Pakistan's sovereign debt burden, but multiple factors indicate that any increase in sovereign debt from these projects is unlikely to be the result of a deliberate strategy on the part of China. Although the debt financing arrangements for CPEC power sector projects primarily involve loans from Chinese banks to project companies wholly or partly owned by Chinese firms, these projects may increase Pakistan's debt because of sovereign guarantees issued by Islamabad to support CPEC power projects and the liquidity crisis in Pakistan's power sector known as circular debt. That said, several aspects of the China-Pakistan relationship and the large stake that China's government and companies have in the success of CPEC indicate that Chinese interests are better served by sustainable CPEC projects than unsustainable ones.

INTRODUCTION

In May 2013, Chinese premier Li Keqiang proposed that China and Pakistan focus on developing "priority projects in connectivity, energy development and power generation" and an economic corridor linking the two countries.¹ China and Pakistan formally launched the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC) nearly two years later when President Xi Jinping visited Islamabad in April 2015.² CPEC is a collection of energy and transport projects, some of which will connect western China to the Arabian Sea.³ The Chinese Embassy in Pakistan reported that as of the end of 2018, 22 CPEC projects worth US\$18.9 billion had been initiated or completed.⁴ Although \$18.9 billion is far below the \$62 billion often cited as the value of the CPEC project portfolio, it is nonetheless a considerable amount of foreign capital for Pakistan.⁵

The Chinese government has regarded CPEC as the bellwether of President Xi Jinping's Belt and Road Initiative (BRI), which he unveiled in 2013.⁶ Once described by Xi as a "project of the century," the BRI aims to forge greater global connectivity, including through the construction of infrastructure, notably in emerging economies.⁷ The initial importance of CPEC as the leading edge of the BRI is reflected in the oft quoted remark made by China's foreign minister Wang Yi in 2015: "if 'One Belt, One Road,' is like a sweet symphony involving and benefitting every country, then the construction of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor is the sweet symphony of the melody's first movement."⁸

Power sector projects are a large component of CPEC. Generation and transmission projects account for 7 of the 11 CPEC projects completed and 6 of the 11 CPEC projects under construction at the end of 2018.⁹ In addition, the 15 power sector projects that comprise the CPEC energy priority projects—those initially scheduled for completion by 2020 and the subject of this study—represent 55 percent of the value of all the projects on the government of Pakistan's CPEC website with an estimated cost listed (\$20.9 billion out of \$38.6 billion).¹⁰ This focus on power projects reflects the determination of former Pakistani prime minister Nawaz Sharif to honor his campaign promise, which helped his party win the 2013 elections, to end Pakistan's chronic electricity shortages.

Three-quarters of the new generation capacity to be added by the CPEC power sector projects is from coal-fired power plants. If all these plants are constructed, they will be a major driver in Pakistan's increasing reliance on coal for electricity. Indeed, the government of Pakistan expects the CPEC power plants to contribute to an expansion of coal's share in Pakistan's power generation mix from 3 percent on June 30, 2017, to 20 percent on June 30, 2025.¹¹ This push to produce more electricity from coal stands in contrast to the move away from coal for power generation in other countries in recent years.¹²





An investigation into the projects being developed by Chinese firms in Pakistan's power sector in the more than four years since the launch of CPEC provides an opportunity to draw some initial conclusions about two issues that lie at the heart of criticisms of the BRI—environmental sustainability and debt sustainability. On the former, there are concerns that BRI infrastructure, especially coal power plants, will negatively impact the environment in a variety of ways, including by harming the global climate and polluting air and water. On the latter, there are concerns that BRI infrastructure projects may result in problematic increases in debt, with some critics worried that China is intentionally seeking to push borrowing countries into debt distress to gain strategic leverage over them.¹³



The key questions addressed by this study include the following:

- Why is the power generation capacity being developed under CPEC so heavily skewed toward coal?
- What accounts for the disconnect between Beijing's emphasis on green development as a feature of the BRI and the coal-fired power plants being constructed with Chinese finance in Pakistan?
- Is China deliberately using the CPEC power projects to push Pakistan into debt distress?

The answers to these questions are based on a variety of English and Chinese sources including Chinese and Pakistani government documents, media reports, industry publications, corporate documents, public statements made by officials and power company executives, and interviews with experts on the economies and energy sectors of China and Pakistan.

The main findings of this study are threefold. First, the fact that almost three-quarters of the new generation capacity to be added by the CPEC "early harvest" power projects is from coal power plants is the result of both a "pull" from Pakistan and a "push" from China. Second, the disconnect between the dominance of coal in the CPEC power generation mix and Beijing's emphasis on green development as an important feature of the BRI is largely due to Pakistan's long-standing preference for producing more electricity from coal. Third, although the CPEC power projects may increase Pakistan's debt burden because of sovereign guarantees and the liquidity crisis in Pakistan's power sector known as "circular debt," multiple factors indicate it is unlikely that Beijing is purposely seeking to trap Pakistan in a debt crisis in a bid to gain assets and influence in Pakistan.

This study has three sections. Part one introduces the CPEC power projects and explains why the new generation capacity they are adding is heavily skewed toward coal. Part two details why there is a gap between the focus of CPEC power projects on coal-fired generation and Beijing's aspiration to build a greener BRI. Part three discusses what China's involvement in Pakistan's power sector tells us about concerns that Beijing intentionally seeks to increase the debt burdens of borrowing countries.



PART 1: THE CPEC POWER SECTOR PROJECTS

The CPEC power sector projects, which are for the production and transmission of electricity, are rooted in Pakistan's need for additional power generation capacity. Since the mid-2000s, Pakistan's electricity demand during peak hours has exceeded its maximum generation capability (see table 1). In Pakistan's fiscal year ending on June 30, 2012, the shortfall reached 6,758 megawatts (MW), roughly the equivalent of 12 medium-sized coal-fired power plants.¹⁵ Electricity outages lasted 10 hours a day in cities and as many as 22 hours a day in rural areas.¹⁶

Fiscal year ending June 30	Installed capacity (MW)	Maximum generation capability (MW)	Demand during peak hours (MW)	Deficit (MW)
2006	19,550	15,168	15,223	-55
2007	19,681	15,575	17,487	-1,912
2008	20,232	14,707	19,281	-4,754
2009	20,566	16,040	20,314	-4,274
2010	21,614	15,144	21,029	-5,885
2011	23,342	15,430	21,086	-5,656
2012	23,342	15,896	22,654	-6,758
2013	23,725	16,846	21,605	-4,759
2014	23,702	18,771	23,505	-4,734
2015	24,961	19,132	24,757	-5,625
2016	25,374	20,121	25,754	-5,625
2017	28,399	22,148	28,476	-2,969

Table 1: Pakistan's power deficit during peak hours

Source: National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, State of the Industry Report 2017, 149, 183, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Publications/State%20of%20Industry%20Reports/State%20of%20industry%20re-port%202017.pdf</u> and International Renewable Energy Agency, Renewables Readiness Assessment Pakistan, April 2018, 7, <u>https://www.irena.org/-/media/Files/IRENA/Agency/Publication/2018/Apr/IRENA_RRA_Pakistan_2018.pdf</u>

Pakistan's electricity crisis originated in the mid-1990s when the government decided that private sector investment was the key to developing the new generation capacity required to meet growing demand for electricity due to limited public sector resources. In 1994 Islamabad released a power policy that offered generous incentives to private investors, including an attractive up-front tariff, a premium for all generation projects above 100 MW commissioned by the end of 1997, exemptions from corporate income tax and import



taxes and duties, and perhaps most consequently, the choice of fuel for the project. These incentives were very successful in quickly securing private sector investment, resulting in roughly 4,000 MW of new generation capacity.¹⁸

The bulk of this investment was in power plants that ran on imported fuel oil, in part because the low oil prices of the 1990s made fuel oil an inexpensive option.¹⁹ These projects contributed to a substantial transformation of Pakistan's power generation mix. Hydropower's share of installed generation capacity fell from around 67 percent in 1985 to 27 percent in 2017, while oil's share was 26 percent in 2017.²⁰ The dramatic increase in oil prices in the 2000s (reaching a high of \$147 per barrel in 2008) caused Pakistan's power generation costs to skyrocket.

Pakistan's reliance on fuel oil for power generation has contributed to the liquidity crisis in the country's power sector known as circular debt, which in turn contributes to the country's frequent power outages. The term refers to the fact that entities in the power sector generally do not have enough money to pay each other for long periods of time.²¹ The sole buyer of all grid-connected electricity produced in Pakistan is the government-owned Central Power Purchasing Agency (CPPA). CPPA buys the electricity from the generation companies and sells it to the distribution companies, which sell it to consumers.²² However, the distribution companies are often unable to pay CPPA in full due to factors including the failure of the government to compensate them in a timely manner for below-market tariffs, customers being unwilling or unable to pay their bills in full, theft, technical losses, and distribution losses. As a result, the CPPA lacks the funds it needs to pay the generation companies, which in turn do not have enough money to pay the fuel suppliers.²³ The fuel suppliers, in turn, cut off supplies in response to nonpayment, forcing generators to shut down for extended periods of time and contributing to electricity shortages. For example, in Pakistan's fiscal year 2014, circular debt resulted in the idling of 5 gigawatts (GW) of generation capacity, which was almost 22 percent of the total installed capacity.²⁴

Pakistan's power shortages have taken a toll on its economy. The World Bank estimates that blackouts have reduced the country's GDP by 2 percent per annum in recent years.²⁵ Pakistan's textile industry, a major source of export revenue, has been hard hit. Media reports have documented the woes of companies in Faisalabad, Pakistan's cloth capital, where power outages had forced hundreds of units to close and left tens of thousands of workers jobless as of 2011.²⁶

Pakistanis took to the streets in the early 2010s (and beyond) to protest the electricity shortages. Rioters enraged about the government's inability to provide electricity during hot summer weather stormed the house of a politician, torched police vans, and looted shops.²⁷ Doctors and nurses picketed outside hospitals, where power outages contributed to a lack of clean water and canceled operations.²⁸

Sharif tapped into this discontent in his successful bid to become prime minister for the third time in 2013. He blamed the previous government for the country's plunge into darkness and the resulting harm to Pakistan's economy, arguing that "it [would] be difficult to identify another example of collective national failure of policies and governance of this magnitude."²⁹ Campaigning under the slogan "Bright Pakistan," he vowed to end the



power shortages within two years if elected.³⁰ His manifesto for the 2013 election outlines a series of measures to resolve the energy crisis and boost economic growth, including the development of at least 5,000 MW of new coal power plants and an investment of \$20 billion to generate 10,000 MW of electricity in the next five years.³¹

After his victory, Sharif wasted little time in letting China know that Pakistan's power sector was open to Chinese firms for more business. When China's premier Li Keqiang visited Pakistan less than two weeks after the general election in May 2013, Sharif requested that China build another nuclear power plant for Pakistan.³² Premier Li was receptive to Sharif's overture, proposing that China and Pakistan not only cooperate in the development of power generation projects but also the construction of a bilateral economic corridor.³³ Li's remarks appear to have emboldened Sharif. When he visited China on his first overseas trip as premier in July 2013, he lobbied executives at the Export-Import Bank of China, China Development Bank, and China Investment Corporation, China's sovereign wealth fund, telling them that there were great opportunities for the development of coal-fired power plants and hydropower plants in Pakistan.³⁴

These visits laid the groundwork for the prioritization of power generation in CPEC. 13 of the 15 projects on the list of CPEC-Energy Priority Projects initially scheduled for completion by 2020 (the dates for some projects have slipped) are power generation projects; the others are transmission lines (see table 2). The total amounts of generation capacity and investment for the current CPEC energy priority projects essentially match the numbers in Sharif's manifesto. The combined capacity of the CPEC energy priority projects is 11,190 MW (compared to 10,000 MW in the manifesto), and the total estimated cost of the projects is at least \$20.9 billion (compared to the \$20 billion in the manifesto), with the costs of two projects still to be determined. Moreover, the CPEC power projects align with Sharif's call for generating more electricity from coal. Nearly three-quarters of this new capacity is from coal-fired power plants; the remaining 25 percent is a mix of hydro, wind, and solar power (see figure 1).



Table 2: CPEC energy priority projects

	Project	Fuel	Capacity (MW)	Estimated cost (US\$ million)	Commercial operation date
1	Port Qasim coal power plant	Imported coal	1,320	1,912.2	April 2018
2	Suki Kinari hydropower station	Hydro	870	1,707	December 2022
3	Sahiwal coal power plant	Imported coal	1,320	1,912.2	October 2017
4	Engro Thar Block II coal power and mine project	Domestic coal	660	995.4	July 2019
	TEL Thar Block II coal power project	Domestic coal	330	497.7	July 2019
	Thalnova Thar Block II coal power project	Domestic coal	330	497.7	July 2019
	Thar Block II surface mine			1,470	December 2018
5	Hydro China Dawood wind farm	Wind	50	112.65	April 2017
6	Gwadar coal power project	Imported coal	300	Not yet determined	Not yet determined
7	Quaid-e-Azam solar park	Solar	1000	1,302	August 2016 (300 MW)
8	UEP wind farm	Wind	100	250	June 2017
9	Sachal wind farm	Wind	50	134	April 2017
10	SSRL Thar Block I coal power and mine project	Domestic coal	1,320	1,912.2	Expected 2018/2019
11	Karot hydropower station	Hydro	720	1,698	December 2021
12	Three Gorges second and third wind power projects	Wind	100	150	June and July 2018
13	Hub coal power plant	Imported coal	1,320	1,912.2	February 2019 (660 MW)
14	Matiari-Lahore HVDC transmission line			1,658	March 2021
	Matiari (Port Qasim)-Faisalabad HVDC transmission line			1,500	2018/2019
15	Thar Mine Mouth Oracle power plant and surface mine	Domestic coal	1,400	Not yet determined	Not yet determined

Source: CPEC Secretariat, "CPEC-Energy Priority Projects," China Pakistan Economic Corridor, accessed June 27, 2019, <u>http://cpec.gov.pk/energy</u>.





Figure 1: Generation capacity of CPEC power plants by fuel

The CPEC power projects are helping to reduce—and should eliminate—Pakistan's power generation gap. If all the power plants included in the list of CPEC energy priority projects are completed as planned, they would add 11,190 MW of new capacity. 11,190 MW is 45 percent of Pakistan's total installed capacity of 24,823 MW as of June 30, 2015 (two months after the launch of CPEC), and is more than the extra capacity Pakistan needed to meet its record high 9,000 MW power shortage on June 25, 2018.³⁵

If all the CPEC coal power plants are developed, they will also substantially increase the role of coal in Pakistan's power generation mix. Pakistan's National Electric Power Regulatory Authority (NEPRA) projects that coal's share of the country's generation capacity will expand from just 3 percent as of June 30, 2017, to nearly 20 percent as of June 30, 2025 (see figure 2).³⁶ Most of the growth will come from coal produced in Pakistan's Thar Desert, according to NEPRA.³⁷ For comparison, the US Energy Information Administration projects that coal's share of global power generation capacity will be 29 percent in 2025.³⁸



Source: CPEC Secretariat, "CPEC-Energy Priority Projects," China Pakistan Economic Corridor, accessed June 27, 2019, <u>http://cpec.gov.pk/energy</u>.



Figure 2: Pakistan's power generation capacity mix, June 30, 2017, and June 30, 2025

Source: National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, State of Industry Report 2017, 7, <u>https://www.nepra.</u> org.pk/Publications/State%20of%20Industry%20Reports/State%20of%20industry%20report%202017.pdf.

Why Are CPEC Power Projects Heavily Skewed toward Coal?

Coal-fired power plants constitute the majority of the new generation capacity to be added by CPEC priority energy projects because of a "pull" from Pakistan and a "push" from China. Pakistan has long sought to develop its vast coal reserves in the Thar Desert for power generation in an attempt to reduce the cost of electricity and conserve foreign exchange. Moreover, Pakistani officials regarded coal as the country's best option for rapidly building a large amount of generation capacity in the short term. Islamabad's quest to substantially increase the use of coal in power generation dovetailed with Beijing's ambitions to find new markets for Chinese manufacturers of coal power equipment as China greens its electricity mix and the generous financial incentives offered by Islamabad and Beijing to spur Chinese power companies to develop power plants in Pakistan. In addition, Chinese companies and financial institutions were willing to help Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif fulfill his campaign promise of ending power outages before he stood for reelection in 2018 by fast-tracking the execution of CPEC power projects.

The "Pull" from Pakistan

The large number of coal-fired power plants on the list of CPEC energy priority projects reflects the importance Islamabad has attached to increasing the role of coal in the country's power generation mix. In Pakistan's fiscal year 2015, during which CPEC launched, coal



accounted for just 0.1 percent of electricity generation, far below the 38 percent of global electricity generation in 2015.³⁹ Successive Pakistani power sector policies have focused on increasing the role of coal in the country's power generation mix. Pakistan's Policy for Power Generation Projects 2002 sought to attract international and domestic investment in the development of indigenous resources including coal.⁴⁰ As the country's federal minister for Water and Power stated in 2004, "the objective of the Government is to facilitate investors in developing coal mines and coal power plants in Pakistan."⁴¹ Similarly, the National Power Policy 2013 calls for the "development of coastal energy corridors based upon imported coal (later mixed with local coal), rapid proliferation of coal mining all across the country—especially at Thar," and the conversion of fuel oil power plants to coal power plants.⁴²

The government of Pakistan believes that the key to transforming the country's power generation fuel mix lies in the development of the abundant coal reserves in the Thar Desert in the country's southern Sindh Province. The Geological Survey of Pakistan, which discovered the coal deposits with the US Agency for International Development in 1992, estimates that they hold around 175 billion tons of coal, making Thar one of the world's largest lignite coal reserves.⁴³ According to a former federal minister for Water and Power, "God has blessed Pakistan with immense coal resources of more than 185.5 billion tonnes, and if half of these resources are exploited properly, it would be sufficient for generating 100,000 MW of electricity for 30 years."⁴⁴

The Thar coal reserves had remained largely unexploited until the launch of CPEC. As Pakistan's Private Power and Infrastructure Board explained in 2004, the country's coal reserves had not been developed due to a lack of infrastructure, financing, and technical expertise.⁴⁵ Many companies shied away from investing in Thar coal in part because its poor quality made it costly to mine.⁴⁶ (The Thar desert contains lignite coal, which General Electric (GE) has described as being "about as combustible as soggy logs in a fireplace."⁴⁷) Moreover, some international financial institutions including the World Bank and the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, have restricted financing for the development of coalfired generation because of concerns about carbon emissions.⁴⁸ The World Bank, for example, withdrew its support for a Thar coal and power project in 2009 because it was inconsistent with the bank's focus on low-carbon technologies.⁴⁹ As a result, China has emerged as a lender of last resort for Pakistan's coal power plants. According to Shahzad Qasim, the special assistant to Prime Minister Imran Khan on the power sector, "finding international financing for coal has been difficult, with China the only country willing to invest."⁵⁰

Generate Cheaper Electricity

The large amount of coal-fired generation capacity added by CPEC power projects reflects the Pakistani government's long-standing objective of diversifying the country's fuel mix away from oil products to coal to generate cheaper electricity. In Pakistan's fiscal year 2014, for example, 40 percent of the country's generation capacity was based on residual fuel oil and high speed diesel, while just 0.1 percent was based on coal.⁵¹ The cost of electricity generated from these oil products, which are largely imported, has been much higher than electricity generated by other fuels, especially coal. During Pakistan's fiscal year 2014, the average generation cost of electricity produced from residual fuel oil was four times higher than that



of coal (see table 3).⁵² It was this gap between the generation costs of oil products and coal that underpinned Islamabad's decision to replace fuel oil with coal in power generation in the hope that it will reduce the cost of electricity.⁵³

Source	Fiscal year 2014	Fiscal year 2015
Hydro		
Residual fuel oil	16.0	12.4
Gas	4.8	4.7
High speed diesel	22.2	17.4
Coal	4.0	4.5
Nuclear	1.3	1.2
Wind		

 Table 3: Pakistan's average cost of generation (rupees/kilowatt hour) in fiscal years 2014 to 2015

Source: State Bank of Pakistan, Annual Report 2014–2015, 34, <u>http://www.sbp.org.pk/reports/annual/</u> <u>arFY15/Energy.pdf</u>.

Conserve Foreign Exchange

The large number of coal-fired power plants being developed as part of CPEC also reflects Islamabad's conviction that increasing the role of coal in Pakistan's power generation mix would reduce the country's import bill. Pakistan's State Planning Commission estimated in 2011 that the conversion of the country's 12 fuel-oil-fired power plants to coal-fired power plants could save \$8 billion dollars, or almost 4 percent of GDP, based on the price of furnace oil and the exchange rate at that time.⁵⁴ Similarly, the State Bank of Pakistan estimated in its annual report for 2013–2014 that if the Jamshoro Power Plant, which the Asian Development Bank is helping convert from fuel oil to coal-fired generation, had been converted to coal earlier, it would have reduced Pakistan's import bill in fiscal year 2014 by \$418 million if fueled by imported coal and \$716 million if fueled by domestic coal.⁵⁵

No Better Option in the Short Term

The dominance of coal-fired generation capacity in CPEC power projects reflected the view of the Sharif administration that coal plants were the best way for Pakistan to bring online a large amount of new generation capacity in a short period of time. In February 2014 Shahbaz Sharif, then the chief minister of Punjab Province (and brother of the prime minister), stated that the government preferred coal power plants because they were the shortest way to resolve the energy crisis.⁵⁶ In February 2015 NEPRA similarly argued that coal-fired generation was the best way to quickly increase the share of cheaper fuels in Pakistan's power generation mix when it granted a generation license for the Port Qasim coal power plant developed as part of CPEC:



The Authority considers it imperative that efforts be made to change the energy mix based on relatively cheap fuels. In view of the depleting natural gas reserves in the country and the relatively longer lead time for hydro electric power projects to materialize, the coal power plants are considered the best option in the short and medium term planning. Therefore, in order to reduce the demand-supply power-gap and achieve sustainable development, it is vital that indigenous as well as imported coal projects are given priority for power generation and their development is encouraged.⁵⁷

This preference for coal is despite Pakistan's vast renewable energy potential. Wind and solar plants could have been developed quickly, helping meet Sharif's goals of bringing new generation capacity online rapidly and increasing the use of domestic resources to generate electricity. Yet renewable energy projects account for only 12 percent of the generation capacity of the CPEC energy priority projects. There are probably several reasons for Islamabad's decision to give renewable energy projects a minor role in CPEC and in resolving the country's electricity crisis.

First, there are concerns within Islamabad about the ability of the country's overutilized transmission system to incorporate large amounts of new variable generation.⁵⁸ Indeed, NEPRA noted in its State of the Industry Report 2015 that renewable energy should be inducted gradually into the system and that detailed studies "to identify short term and long term expansion plans for strengthening the grid system" need to be conducted in order to create more space for renewable energy on the grid.⁵⁹ Similarly, several Pakistani energy experts argue in a paper published by the Asian Development Bank Institute in 2018 that the biggest obstacle to generating more electricity from wind and solar is the lack of adequate transmission and distribution infrastructure to absorb large amounts of power from intermittent sources of energy.⁶⁰

Second, solar and wind were more expensive sources of electricity than coal when China and Pakistan launched CPEC, which made them a less attractive source of electricity than coal to Islamabad given its goal of generating more affordable electricity. For most of 2015, for example, the levelized tariff for new solar photovoltaic projects was between 14 and 15 cents per kilowatt hour, while the levelized tariff for a new wind project was between 13 and 17 cents per kilowatt hour.⁶² In contrast, the levelized tariff for a new imported coal-based power plant was 8.6 cents per kilowatt hour (kWh) and for a new domestic coal-based power plant was 9.7 cents/kWh. Today, however, wind and solar are the least expensive sources of new electricity in Pakistan. In 2018 levelized tariffs averaged 5.25 cents/kWh for solar and 4.3 cents/kWh for wind while coal projects had levelized tariffs greater than 8 cents/kWh.⁶³



Why are there no nuclear power plants in CPEC?

Nuclear power plants are not part of CPEC even though China virtually single-handedly built Pakistan's civilian nuclear program and continues to assist with its development. Nuclear power plants are probably excluded from CPEC because China's continued sale of reactors to Pakistan is perceived internationally to be a violation of the guidelines of the Nuclear Suppliers Group (NSG), which prohibits nuclear exports to nonmember states unless they agree to full-scope International Atomic Energy Agency safeguards.⁶⁴ When China joined the NSG in 2004, other members agreed to grandfather the construction of nuclear reactors in Pakistan for which contracts with China had been completed, including the Chashma-1 and Chashma-2 reactors.⁶⁵ However, China subsequently sold Pakistan the Chasma-3 and Chasma-4 reactors and is currently constructing two nuclear reactors in Karachi.⁶⁶ Beijing probably justifies its continued reactor sales to Pakistan on the basis of a bilateral agreement signed in 2003.⁶⁷ However, officials from the United States and other NSG members view these sales as inconsistent with the NSG guidelines.⁶⁸ As a result, Beijing may have pushed to exclude nuclear power plants from CPEC to avoid casting a pall over the initiative.⁶⁹

Incentives for Foreign Investors

The government of Pakistan offers financial incentives to attract foreign companies to develop coal mines in the Thar Desert and build coal power plants. Some of these incentives, such as high rates of return on equity and sovereign guarantees, are available to all foreign investors. Other incentives, notably Islamabad's not yet fulfilled commitment to establish revolving funds to ensure uninterrupted payments to power producers, are exclusive to Chinese firms.

The need for these incentives is reflected in the assessments of Chinese government agencies and power companies of the risks of doing business in Pakistan. For example, China's State Administration of Taxation states in its latest guidance to Chinese companies investing in Pakistan that Pakistan's external debt is huge, its ability to service this debt is very low, and that China may become a high-risk creditor. It also noted that the returns on investment earned by Chinese companies are very low.⁷⁰ Chinese power companies have also identified numerous risks to investing in Pakistan, notably the risk of delayed payments for electricity, which makes it difficult for companies operating power plants to purchase coal and repay lenders.⁷¹

High Returns on Equity

Islamabad increased the guaranteed return on equity (ROE) for coal-fired power plants to entice foreign investors, especially from China, to invest in Pakistan's power sector.⁷² In June 2013 NEPRA fixed the ROE for power projects based on local coal at 17 percent per year and the ROE for power projects based on imported coal at 20 percent per year.⁷³ NEPRA sets the ROE for power projects because the ROE is one of several factors that determines the cost of electricity.⁷⁴ However, the failure of these rates to secure new investments prompted the nowdefunct Ministry of Water and Power to ask NEPRA in February 2014 to reconsider the tariffs,



and thus the ROEs, for coal power plants.⁷⁵ In June 2014 NEPRA increased the ROE for coal power plants to 26.5–29.5 percent for local coal and to 24.5–27.2 percent for imported coal.⁷⁶ The following month, NEPRA set even higher ROEs of 30.65–34.49 percent for mine mouth power plants based on Thar coal (see table 4).⁷⁷ In announcing the ROEs for Thar coal power plants, NEPRA noted that "Thar coal is a strategic energy resource, and investment in Thar has to be incentivized in order to expedite Thar coal development. The Authority acknowledges that ROE for Thar coal has to be more than the ROE offered to import/local coal (non-Thar)."⁷⁸

Table 4: Pakistan's coal power tariffs in 2013 and 2014

Type of coal	2013	2014
Imported	20%	24.5% (220 MW plant with 40 months' construction time)
		27.2% (660/1099 MW plant with 48 months' construction time)
Local (other than Thar)	17%	26.5% (220 MW plant with 40 months' construction time)
		29.5% (660/1099 MW plant with 48 months' construction time)
Thar	None	30.65% (330 MW plant with 40 months' construction time)
		34.49% (660/1099 MW plant with 40 months' construction time)

Sources: National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Determination of National Electric Power Regulatory Authority in the Matter of Upfront Tariff for the Projects on Imported/Local Coal (Other than Thar Coal), June 6, 2013, 8, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/Upfront/TRF-100%20UTC%20</u> <u>Determination%20Upfront%20Coal%2006-06-2013%205444-46.pdf</u>; National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Decision of the Authority Regarding Reconsideration Request Filed by Government of Pakistan in the Matter of Upfront Tariff for Coal Power Projects," June 26, 2014, 11-12, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/</u> <u>Tariff/Upfront/Decision%200f%20the%20AUthority%20Upfront%20Coal.pdf</u>; and National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, "Determination of the Authority in the Matter of Thar Coal Upfront Tariff," July 9, 2014, 9, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/Upfront/COAL%20UpFront%20Tariff.pdf</u>

Comments by Pakistani officials and executives highlight the attractiveness of the ROEs for coal power plants. A NEPRA official, while explaining the decision in 2014 to increase the ROE to attract investment, stated that the ROE for power projects based on Thar coal "is the highest ever return on any investment in Pakistan's history."⁷⁹ A former member of Pakistan's Energy Planning Commission similarly noted in 2017 that "nowhere in the world such a high return has ever been allowed."⁸⁰ Officials with the Ministry of Water and Power stated in 2017 that high rates of return on equity had to be given to make coal power plants attractive because "people were not ready to invest in coal-based projects," according to Pakistani media.⁸¹ More recently, the CEO of the Sindh Engro Coal Mining Company (SECMC) told the media that the ROE of 27.2 percent for the Sahiwal coal power project "was actually 18 percent internal rate of return on investment (IRR) on investment which was very high compared to 12 to 14 percent global IRRs."⁸²



Sovereign Guarantees

The government of Pakistan guarantees the obligations of the Central Power Purchasing Agency to power producers.⁸³ This sovereign guarantee has made investing in the development of power plants in Pakistan more attractive to Chinese firms and their partners. For example, PowerChina, one of the owners of the Port Qasim Electric Power Corporation, identified the sovereign guarantee as a factor that will mitigate the risk of delayed electricity payments in a filing with the Shanghai Stock Exchange.⁸⁴ Similarly, Oracle Power PLC, a London-listed coal developer seeking to develop an integrated coal mine and power plant with Chinese firms as part of CPEC, mentions the sovereign guarantee in presentations and announcements about the project.⁸⁵ The government of Pakistan also issued a sovereign guarantee in the amount of \$700 million to the consortiums of Chinese and Pakistani banks that are providing \$1.5 billion to an integrated coal mine and power plant in Thar Block II being developed by project companies comprised of Chinese and Pakistani firms.⁸⁶

Revolving Funds

The government of Pakistan also sought to attract Chinese investment in coal power projects by pledging to establish revolving funds backed by sovereign guarantees to ensure that power plants developed as part of CPEC are paid on time for the electricity they produce. Islamabad initially offered this incentive to CPEC coal power plants in April 2015 and subsequently extended it to all CPEC power projects in February 2016 as a result of concerns by Chinese investors about the risk of delayed payments.⁸⁷ Specifically, the government of Pakistan agreed to create a fund equal to a minimum of 22 percent of estimated monthly power purchases. If the power purchaser defaults on payments, the government of Pakistan will assume the liability and pay the Chinese power producers.⁸⁸

Chinese officials and executives have indicated that Pakistan's commitment to establish the revolving fund, which has yet to be set up, helped facilitate Chinese investment in CPEC power projects. Zhang Yuqing, a former deputy director of China's National Energy Administration stated in a 2017 article that the revolving fund was one of several measures the government of Pakistan agreed to implement that led Chinese firms to assess that Pakistan's investment environment had improved, which increased their enthusiasm for doing business there.⁸⁹ Similarly, an executive with PowerChina told the Chinese media that the biggest problem in investing in power stations in Pakistan is delayed payments and that PowerChina, together with the National Energy Administration, pushed for the establishment of a revolving fund to be included in the intergovernmental agreement on CPEC energy cooperation to ensure uninterrupted payments to Chinese power producers.⁹⁰ His remarks align with a Pakistani press report detailing that the Chinese refused to build any power plants until Islamabad agreed to protect Chinese investors and lenders from circular debt.⁹¹



The "Push" from China

Islamabad's efforts to increase the role of coal in Pakistan's electricity mix aligned with the Chinese government's efforts to partially alleviate excess capacity in a variety of industries, including coal power generation equipment, by encouraging Chinese companies to find new markets abroad. To this end, Beijing has called on Chinese financial institutions to support the development of overseas power projects to drive the export of Chinese equipment. Moreover, the ability of Chinese firms and financial institutions to expedite the financing and construction of power plants aligned with former prime minister Sharif's goal of bringing on a large volume of new generation capacity as quickly as possible.

Find New Markets Abroad

Chinese firms are developing coal-fired power plants in Pakistan and other countries to generate new sources of demand for coal power equipment in the face of constrained opportunities to expand at home as China continues to green its electricity mix. Thermal's share of China's power generation capacity, most of which is coal, declined from 76 percent in 2008 to 62 percent in 2017.⁹² Meanwhile, renewables have come to dominate new capacity installations. As a result, Chinese manufacturers of coal power equipment are looking abroad for new markets, especially to countries rich in coal resources and short of generation capacity.

China's production of generator sets, which are used in thermal, hydro, and nuclear power plants, is a case in point. The country produced far more generator sets than it installed domestically over the past decade (see figure 3). The capacity of generator sets produced that were actually installed declined from 62 percent in 2008 to 50 percent in 2017 before increasing to 58 percent in 2018.⁹³ The share of capacity of generator sets manufactured in 2013 that were actually installed in that year was less than 50 percent.⁹⁴



Figure 3: China's generator set production exceeds new generation capacity

Source: National Bureau of Statistics of China and China Electricity Council



This excess capacity is largely the result of the decline in coal and the rise of renewables in new installations of power generation capacity in China. Thermal's share of new installations (the majority of which were for coal power plants) dropped from 71 percent in 2008 to 33 percent in 2018. The share of renewables increased from 29 percent to 60 percent over the same period (see figure 4).⁹⁵





The weakening demand for generators is partly due to Beijing's efforts to combat air pollution by increasing China's use of hydropower and other renewables. China's Eleventh Five-Year Plan (2006–2010) introduced for the first time a target of 10 percent for nonfossil energy consumption.⁹⁶ Beijing subsequently increased the nonfossil energy target to 11.4 percent in the Twelfth Five-Year Plan (2011–2015), to 15 percent in the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan (2016–2020), and to "around 20%" by 2030.⁹⁷ The Chinese government is also considering requiring that renewables account for at least 35 percent of China's electricity consumption by 2030, according to a draft plan viewed by Bloomberg in September 2018.⁹⁸

Meanwhile, major cities have also shuttered coal-fired power plants to improve air quality. The Beijing Municipal Environmental Protection Bureau, for example, announced in August 2014 that it would ban coal sales and use in Beijing's six main districts by the end of 2020.⁹⁹ The city's last coal-fired power plant closed in March 2017, making Beijing the first city in China to rely on cleaner energy sources, including nuclear, wind, and natural gas for power.¹⁰⁰



Source: China Electricity Council

China's excess capacity in generator sets is also partly the result of Beijing's decision in October 2014 to devolve authority for permitting new coal-fired power plants to the provinces in a bid to cut bureaucratic red tape.¹⁰¹ Beijing had assumed that local governments would be able to make faster and better decisions about new generation capacity based on their greater understanding of local power demand. The provinces were quick to take advantage of their newfound authority, lured by the employment and tax revenue created by investment in fixed assets and aware that Beijing's push to green China's energy mix meant they had a limited period to act. They granted permits to 210 new coal-fired power plants with a combined capacity of 165 GW in 2015.¹⁰² Although Beijing subsequently canceled some of these projects, the decentralization of permitting probably did result in the addition of new coal-fired generation capacity that China did not need. For example, China's new capacity additions for coal-fired power generation increased from 35 GW in 2014 to 54 GW in 2015 and then fell to 38.7 GW in 2016 and 35 GW in 2017.¹⁰³

The Chinese government has encouraged Chinese manufacturers to export excess generator sets rather than warehouse them. This push to sell more generation equipment abroad is in line with Beijing's preference for partially alleviating industrial overcapacity through exports. For example, the "Guiding Opinions on Resolving the Contradiction of Serious Overcapacity" ("Guiding Opinions on Overcapacity"), released in October 2013, calls on Chinese firms to undertake major infrastructure and industrial projects overseas to drive the export of Chinese equipment, technology, products, standards, and services.¹⁰⁴ Similarly, the State Council's "Guiding Opinions on the Promotion of International Production Capacity and Equipment Manufacturing Cooperation" ("Guiding Opinions on International Production Capacity"), published in May 2015, states that overseas projects should be vigorously developed to enlarge China's export of power equipment and technology, with thermal and hydropower projects discussed first.¹⁰⁵ When Premier Li Keqiang visited the Guangdong Electric Power and Design Research Institute in January 2015, he stated that it is necessary for China's power sector to lead the globalization of China's equipment industry not only because of overcapacity in generation equipment but also because China's technologies are advanced.¹⁰⁶

The CPEC power sector projects are driving the export of Chinese equipment. For example, Chinese firms manufactured 99 percent of the equipment used in the Port Qasim coal power plant, including the steam turbines, boilers, and generators. The construction of the power plant drove the export of more than RMB 7 billion (\$1.1 billion) worth of equipment, making it a "model project" for the export of Chinese standards, equipment, and technology according to the China Power News Network.¹⁰⁷ Similarly, the Hub coal power plant is expected to drive the export of \$900 million of equipment, including boiler systems, fuel systems, and circulating water systems.¹⁰⁸

Meanwhile, the State Grid Corporation of China is building it first overseas ±660 kV highvoltage direct current (HVDC) transmission line in Pakistan between Matiari and Lahore, which will evacuate electricity produced by seven CPEC coal power plants.¹⁰⁹ The project uses the company's direct current technology. Nearly 80 percent of the project adopts China's technical standards, which State Grid estimates will drive RMB 6.7 billion (around US\$ 1 billion) of equipment and technology service exports.¹¹⁰



Financial Support

Another reason Chinese power companies and banks are developing coal power plants is the financial support provided by Chinese financial institutions. The Chinese government has encouraged them to facilitate the export of power generation equipment to help alleviate domestic excess capacity in this industry. Beijing's guidance is contained in government documents and speeches made by Xi Jinping. The State Council's "Guiding Opinions on Overcapacity" calls for increased debt financing to support international expansion in overcapacity industries.¹¹¹ Its "Guiding Opinions on International Production Capacity" similarly encourages Chinese financial institutions, especially policy banks such as the China Development Bank and the Export-Import Bank of China (China Eximbank), to provide additional financing for overseas projects that will drive exports of Chinese equipment, including power generation equipment. The document also calls for strengthening and improving export credit insurance to facilitate the export of large-scale, complete sets of equipment, which presumably includes turnkey power plants.¹¹²

More broadly, President Xi announced an additional \$113 billion in financial support at the Belt and Road Forum in Beijing in May 2017.¹¹³ The \$113 billion includes \$69.5 billion of additional funds for the Silk Road Fund, China Development Bank, and China Eximbank. (Specifically, Xi said that "China" will contribute \$14.5 billion to the Silk Road Fund and that the China Development Bank and China Eximbank will establish special BRI funds in the amounts of \$36.2 billion and \$18.8 billion, respectively.) Xi also encouraged financial institutions to deploy the equivalent of \$43.5 billion in Chinese currency to help develop the BRI.

Chinese state-owned financial institutions are supporting the development of overseas coal-fired power plants in line with Beijing's guidance.¹¹⁴ As of July 2018, Chinese banks and firms had committed or provided funding for more than 25 percent of all coal plants under development outside of China. Pakistan was the fourth largest recipient of Chinese financing for coal power plants behind Bangladesh, Vietnam, and South Africa. The principal Chinese financiers include policy banks (institutions with a mandate to support Beijing's policy priorities) such as the China Development Bank and China Eximbank and commercial banks such as the Industrial and Commercial Bank of China and Bank of China.

While China's policy and commercial banks feature prominently in discussions of Chinese financing for coal-fired power plants, the Chinese financial institution that arguably plays the most important role in facilitating the development of overseas coal power plants is the state-owned China Export and Credit Insurance Corporation, known as Sinosure. It is China's only official export guarantee agency. Sinosure has a mandate to promote Chinese equipment exports and overseas investment through the provision of insurance against nonpayment and economic losses due to risks including war, expropriation, and breach of contract.¹¹⁵ Sinosure covers up to 95 percent of the equity, debt, or deferred payment.¹¹⁶

China requires Chinese financial institutions and state-owned enterprises to obtain insurance from Sinosure before lending and making investments overseas.¹¹⁷ Sinosure guarantees are likely to be especially important for coal power projects, which can cost hundreds of millions of dollars to develop and thus are a significant credit risk to lenders.¹¹⁸ Sinosure has



underwritten 11 power sector projects in Pakistan with an insured amount of \$14.92 billion.¹¹⁹ NEPRA has allowed a Sinosure fee of up to 7 percent of the total debt servicing to be included in the project cost used to calculate the tariffs for all CPEC power generation projects.¹²⁰

Sinosure is one of the reasons Chinese firms are developing coal power projects in Pakistan. The Port Qasim coal power plant is a case in point. Even though the government of Pakistan provided a sovereign guarantee for the power purchase agreement, PowerChina was concerned that Islamabad might not be able to honor its guarantee because of the Pakistani power sector's debt.¹²¹ Consequently, Sinosure agreed to underwrite delayed payments from Pakistan; if the government of Pakistan is unable to reimburse in a timely fashion the project company jointly owned by PowerChina and Qatar's Al Mirqab Capital for power purchases, the company can file a claim with Sinosure for breach of contract.¹²²

The Need for Speed

The large share of coal-fired capacity in CPEC power projects is also consistent with the priority former Pakistani prime minister Nawaz Sharif placed on bringing online as much new generation capacity as fast as possible to make good on his pledge to end Pakistan's electricity shortages before he stood for reelection in 2018.¹²³ Chinese companies can build coal power plants very quickly, even in as short a time frame as less than a year.¹²⁴ Moreover, coordination between Chinese financiers and power companies expedited the financing for CPEC power projects.

Chinese companies met Sharif's need for speed on some projects. PowerChina, the firm that built the Sahiwal coal-fired power plant, hung floodlights from cranes so construction could continue at night.¹²⁵ The company completed the project in just 22 months, 200 days ahead of schedule, setting a record for the shortest construction period for this type of unit abroad.¹²⁶ The Pakistani government reportedly regarded the speed at which the Sahiwal plant was constructed as a miracle in the history of Pakistan's electric power construction.¹²⁷

PowerChina came under pressure from the Pakistani government to rapidly develop the Port Qasim coal-fired plant. According to one Chinese media report, the biggest "roadblock" PowerChina faced in completing the project was the requirement from Islamabad to reduce the construction period from 48 months to 42 months and then to 36 months.¹²⁸ PowerChina executives spoke about the difficulty of satisfying this request in interviews with Chinese journalists. The chairman of the Port Qasim Electric Power Company, a subsidiary of PowerChina, noted that the average construction time globally for a plant the size of Port Qasim was 42 months.¹²⁹ In another interview, the chairman of PowerChina, Yan Zhiyong, revealed that during negotiations over the project, the Pakistanis asked PowerChina if it could complete the plant and connect it to the grid six months ahead of schedule in light of the country's power shortages and the 2018 elections. Chairman Yan responded, "from the perspective of a politician, I understand this request very well. But from the perspective of an engineer and from the perspective of the chairman of a central state-owned enterprise and global Fortune 500 company, I must responsibly tell you that this request is impossible to achieve."¹³⁰ Nonetheless, PowerChina connected the plant's two generating units to the grid in just 32 months. The Port Qasim coal power project began commercial operation 67 days ahead of schedule on April 25, 2018, three months before Pakistan's general election.¹³¹



The ability of Chinese companies to execute projects quickly was a factor in Pakistan's selection of a Chinese firm to build a major transmission line. The Pakistani government awarded the contract for the Matiari-Lahore HVDC line to State Grid over GE, even though GE's initial cost estimate was two-thirds that of State Grid (\$800 million versus \$1.26 billion), because the Chinese company said it could complete the project in 27 months.¹³² When Islamabad asked Western companies to match State Grid's timeline, the companies said it would take at least 48 months to complete the project.¹³³

According to Zhang Yuqing, former deputy director of China's National Energy Administration, coordination between Chinese financial institutions and power companies enabled CPEC power projects to secure financing in a timely fashion, which helped accelerate their development. Chinese banks and Sinosure participated in planning and negotiating the CPEC power projects from the very start.¹³⁴ In the case of the Hub coal-fired power plant, the project secured financing so quickly that it was reportedly viewed as a "miracle" by the outside world.¹³⁵ Similarly, the integration of the financing for the Thar Block II coal mine and power plant helped expedite the approval of the project within China.¹³⁶



PART 2: CPEC AND ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

Analysts have raised concerns about the likelihood of infrastructure being developed as part of the BRI adversely affecting the environment. Infrastructure likely to have the greatest impact on the environment include roads and railways; thermal, hydro, and nuclear power plants; electricity transmission systems; oil and natural gas pipelines; mining projects; and heavy industry. The risks associated with these infrastructure projects include increased air and water pollution, habitat loss and fragmentation, deforestation, greater wildlife mortality, the threat of invasive species; and increased greenhouse gas emissions that undermine global action to combat climate change.¹³⁸ Ma Jun and Simon Zadek of Tsinghua University have warned that BRI countries could account for more than 50 percent of global carbon dioxide emissions by 2050 in the worst-case scenario.¹³⁹

Coal power plants often feature prominently in discussions of the environmental sustainability of the BRI because they account for a large share of the power generation projects being developed and financed by Chinese entities in BRI countries. A study by the World Resources Institute finds that Chinese debt financing for power generation and transmission projects in BRI countries is skewed toward coal. Specifically, in 2014–2017, 40 percent (or \$10.2 billion) of syndicated loans for such projects involving at least one of six major Chinese banks was used to finance coal-fired power plants.¹⁴⁰ Moreover, Fitch Solutions expects coal power projects to remain a core focus of generation projects developed under the BRI. According to its calculations in 2018, coal accounts for 52 percent (or 80 GW) of the 153 GW capacity in its BRI power project pipeline.¹⁴¹

The CPEC coal power plants pose several threats to Pakistan's environment. First, they will increase substantially Pakistan's greenhouse gas emissions, which is likely to complicate Pakistan's pledge, made at the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change in Paris in December 2015, to reduce its greenhouse gas emissions.¹⁴² Second, new coal power plants risk exacerbating Pakistan's water scarcity because mining coal and burning it for power generation are water-intensive activities.¹⁴³ Third, CPEC coal power plants may create health problems from increased emissions of air pollutants and the handling and disposal of coal ash, which contains carcinogens.¹⁴⁴

The production of Thar coal for power generation also threatens the local environment. The Thar Desert contains lignite coal, which has a lower heating value than bituminous coal. This means that more coal must be burned to produce a given amount of power, which means more pollutants, including greenhouse gases, are generated.¹⁴⁵ Some residents of Thar have worried that the projects will contaminate and deplete their water supplies, destroy the local ecology, and result in a loss of trees and grazing lands.¹⁴⁶

Consequently, most CPEC power projects are out of line with Beijing's pledge to build a green BRI. The Chinese government has highlighted green development as a goal of the BRI. In August 2016 six central government agencies, including the People's Bank of China, released "Guidelines for Establishing the Green Financial System," which calls on Chinese banks, firms,



and multilateral development banks in which China actively participates to adopt green financing and strengthen environmental risk management for BRI projects.¹⁴⁷ In May 2017 China's Ministry of Environmental Protection, Ministry of Foreign Affairs, National Development and Reform Commission, and Ministry of Commerce jointly issued "Guidance on Promoting Green Belt and Road," which aims to align the BRI with the trend of "green, low carbon and circular development."¹⁴⁸ Later that month, President Xi himself stated at the opening ceremony of the inaugural Belt and Road Forum that "We need to seize opportunities presented by the new round of change in the energy mix and the revolution in energy technologies to develop global energy interconnection and achieve low-carbon development."¹⁴⁹ In November 2018 China's special representative on climate change, Xie Zhenhua, told journalists that the central government has made clear that BRI projects should be green and follow a low-carbon path.¹⁵⁰ Xi recommitted to using the BRI to promote green development at the second Belt and Road Forum in April 2019.¹⁵¹

What explains the disconnect?

The CPEC power projects indicate that the disconnect between Beijing's green BRI rhetoric and the reality on the ground can be explained by two factors. First, it is ultimately up to a host country to determine its power generation mix, and Chinese officials and power company executives may be reluctant to interfere in the decision-making process. Second, some of the Chinese firms developing coal power plants abroad maintain they are clean, especially if they produce less emissions than the alternatives.

Host Country Preferences

The CPEC power projects highlight the importance of host country preferences in determining the composition of their power generation mixes. Chinese firms would not be building so many coal-fired power plants overseas without a large customer base abroad. China can't force other countries to buy power generation equipment they do not want. Although Chinese companies certainly have a strong incentive to sell excess thermal power generation sets overseas, they also had an eager buyer in Pakistan. The country had been courting foreign investors, including Chinese firms, to invest in the development of the Thar coal fields long before Beijing and Islamabad decided to launch CPEC.¹⁵² Given that Chinese firms can build other types of power plants and that Beijing is promoting the export of wind turbines and solar panels along with thermal and hydropower generation equipment, it is plausible that if Pakistan had prioritized the development of renewable energy projects, the composition of the generation mix of the CPEC power plants would be different.¹⁵³ The dominance of coal in the generation mix of the CPEC power plants may also reflect a reluctance on the part of the Chinese government to dictate the environmental policies of other countries even though China certainly has the financial resources and expertise in building solar, wind, and hydropower projects to help countries to shift their generation mixes in a greener direction.

Imran Khan's election as Pakistan's prime minister in July 2018 prompted Chinese officials to reaffirm Pakistan's leading role in determining CPEC's trajectory. Indeed, China's ambassador to Pakistan, Yao Jing, has indicated that it is ultimately up to Pakistan to decide what type of projects are included in CPEC. In an interview with Reuters in September 2018, he said that



Beijing would definitely follow the agenda of the new government of Prime Minister Imran Khan to develop a road map for BRI projects and would only move forward with projects Pakistan wanted. "This is Pakistan's economy, this is their society," he said.¹⁵⁴ That same month China's foreign minister, Wang Yi, said that "in terms of how we advance the construction in the next stage [of CPEC], we will always respect the will of the Pakistani side."¹⁵⁵

Khan is shifting the focus of CPEC away from projects aimed at fulfilling his predecessor's promise to end power outages and toward projects in line with his campaign pledge to boost social spending.¹⁵⁶ The outcomes of the meeting of CPEC's Joint Cooperation Committee in Beijing in December 2018 reflect Khan's priorities. The Pakistanis requested that the proposed 1,320 MW Rahim Yar Khan imported coal-based power plant be removed from CPEC because Pakistan had already contracted sufficient generation capacity and more contract would result in a "capacity trap." (The project had already been deleted from the list of CPEC energy priority projects after Islamabad announced a ban on new power plants using imported fuels in June 2016.)¹⁵⁷ In addition, the two countries agreed to expand CPEC to include industrial, agricultural, and socioeconomic projects. The Chinese also committed to providing a grant of \$1 billion for projects in areas including education, health, and irrigation.¹⁵⁸

Seeing Green

The disconnect between the large number of coal power plants under development with Chinese financing in Pakistan and Beijing's emphasis on building a green BRI may also be explained by the fact that at least some of the CPEC coal power plants, notably those built at Port Qasim and Sahiwal and under construction at Hub, are viewed as "green" in China. PowerChina, which is involved in all three plants as an owner or builder, has touted their green credentials. For example, one executive told the Pakistani media that the company had adopted the highest international standards and most modern technology to ensure the production of clean energy at the Port Qasim plant.¹⁵⁹ Similarly, an article on PowerChina's website states that the Sahiwal power plant "has the highest operation efficiency, most advanced technologies and is the most environmentally-friendly of any coal-fired plant in the country."¹⁶⁰ Wang Binghua, the chairman of PowerChina's parent company, China State Power Investment Corporation, said that the company is adopting "top international technologies on environment protection" at Hub, explaining that "we are adopting a super clean emission technology which could make the emissions at the plant the same as a gas fired power plant."¹⁶¹

While PowerChina certainly has an incentive to portray its coal-fired power plants in Pakistan as green to counter criticisms about the environmental risks posed by these projects, there is some truth in the company's statements. First, all three plants use supercritical power generation technology.¹⁶² Coal plants are categorized as subcritical, supercritical, or ultrasupercritical depending on how efficiently they burn coal to generate electricity. Supercritical plants emit less carbon dioxide than subcritical plants but more than ultra-supercritical plants.¹⁶³ Second, the Port Qasim and Sahiwal plants also have advanced pollution abatement equipment, such as flue gas desulfurization (FGD) and selective catalytic reduction (SCR) to reduce sulfur and nitrogen emissions and electrostatic precipitators (ESPs), which control particulate emissions, while the Hub plant has ESPs and FGD and the option to add SCR.¹⁶⁴



Third, the supercritical coal plants being developed as part of CPEC should emit fewer greenhouse gasses than the fuel oil plants that Pakistan is seeking to replace with the coalfired ones. Indeed, the Asian Development Bank, which is financing the construction of a 600 MW supercritical coal-fired unit at the Jamshoro Thermal Power Station, stated that supercritical coal plants emit fewer greenhouse gases than Pakistan's existing heavy-fuel-oil-fired plants.¹⁶⁵ According to the Asian Development Bank, the new supercritical coal-fired unit at Jamshoro will emit 750 grams of carbon dioxide per kilowatt hour compared to the 930 grams of carbon dioxide emitted by the existing heavy fuel oil unit at Jamshoro.¹⁶⁶

However, other CPEC coal power plants are less environmentally friendly, especially from a climate perspective.¹⁶⁷ Three of the Thar coal plants and the Gwadar coal power plant use—or will use—subcritical technology (see table 5). As a result, these four plants will emit a lot more carbon dioxide per unit of electricity. The Gwadar coal power plant should be as clean from a traditional pollutant perspective as a supercritical plant if all the planned pollution abatement equipment, including FGD, ESP, and SCR, is installed and run well.¹⁶⁸

Coal power plant	Generation technology
Port Qasim coal power plant	Supercritical
Sahiwal coal power plant	Supercritical
Engro Thar Block II coal power project	Subcritical
TEL Thar Block II coal power project	Subcritical
Thalnova Thar Block II coal power project	Subcritical
Gwadar coal power project	Subcritical
SSRL Thar Block I coal power project	Supercritical
Hub coal power plant	Supercritical
Thar Mine Mouth Oracle power plant	Supercritical

Table 5: Generation technologies of CPEC coal power plants

Sources: See Appendix A.

It's worth noting that Pakistan's appetite for additional subcritical coal plants may be limited. In July 2017 NEPRA announced that its new upfront tariff for Thar coal power plants will only be available to projects that use supercritical technology or above and that the use of subcritical technology would not be allowed.¹⁶⁹ As a result of this new tariff policy, Oracle Power expanded the size of its planned power plant in Thar Block IV from 1,320 MW to 1,400 MW to comply with the new requirement to apply supercritical technology.¹⁷⁰



PART 3: CPEC AND DEBT SUSTAINABILITY

The BRI has generated concerns about whether Chinese loans for infrastructure development will create debt problems in borrowing countries. A frequently cited analysis of the debt implications published by the Center on Global Development in March 2018 found that the BRI increases the risk of debt distress in some borrowing countries.¹⁷¹ International Monetary Fund (IMF) officials have also warned of the risks to debt sustainability posed by the BRI. Christine Lagarde, a former managing director of the IMF, cautioned in remarks in Beijing in April 2018 against the financing of unneeded and unsustainable infrastructure and urged careful management of financing terms in countries where public debt is already high.¹⁷² Maurice Obstfeld, economic counselor at the IMF, offered similar advice about China's financing of infrastructure in Pakistan at a press conference in October 2018. He noted that although Pakistan needs more infrastructure, "it is important that the design of projects, the governance of projects be sound and that excessive debts which cannot be repaid are avoided because that just leads to financial instability and lower growth."¹⁷³

Some observers maintain that China is intentionally attempting to saddle countries with unsustainable levels of debt in order to gain control of strategic infrastructure or political influence when borrowing countries can't repay their loans. For example, in August 2018, Ray Washburne, president of the Overseas Private Investment Corporation, said that China's "projects economically don't make a lot of sense. It's a loan-to-own program the Chinese are doing."¹⁷⁴ That same month, a group of US senators sent a letter to Treasury Secretary Steven Mnuchin and Secretary of State Michael Pompeo expressing concern about potential bailout requests to the IMF by countries that have "accepted predatory Chinese infrastructure financing" and stating that China "attempts to hold other countries financially hostage and force ransoms that further its geostrategic goals."¹⁷⁵ The senators also warned that China might use debt as leverage to establish naval bases in countries unable to repay loans where Chinese firms hold concession agreements to operate and develop ports, including Pakistan and Sri Lanka.¹⁷⁶

Pakistan frequently appears in discussions of the debt sustainability of the BRI because of the country's heavy and increasing debt burden. Pakistan's debt-to-GDP ratio increased from 70 percent in 2017 to 75.3 percent in 2018 and is projected by the IMF to reach a high of 80.5 percent in 2020. Research indicates that countries with rising debt-to-GDP ratios above 50–60 percent are at greater risk of default or debt treatment.¹⁸¹ Pakistan's debt is partly the result of borrowing from China. According to an IMF report published in July 2019, Chinese bilateral and commercial loans accounted for 26 percent of Pakistan's total outstanding debt of \$85.5 billion.¹⁸²

Pakistan turned to the IMF in October 2018 to avoid a default.¹⁸³ In July 2019 the IMF's executive board approved a 39-month bailout package in the amount of \$6 billion that will unlock around \$38.6 billion in support from Pakistan's international partners over the three-year period.¹⁸⁴ The IMF expects Pakistan's external debt to remain sustainable due to a projected fall in external borrowing after Pakistan's fiscal year 2021 and the commitments from Pakistan's international partners.¹⁸⁵



Hambantota Port's central role in the "debt trap diplomacy" narrative

Proponents of the argument that China is practicing debt trap diplomacy to seize strategic assets tend to focus on a single example, Hambantota Port in Sri Lanka, despite China's established track record of waiving or restructuring loans without taking control of assets.¹⁷⁷ The government of Sri Lanka's previous president, Mahinda Rajapaksa, who was in office from 2005 to 2015, borrowed money from China to build infrastructure in his hometown of Hambantota, including a port.¹⁷⁸ Struggling to repay Sri Lanka's loans, the government of Rajapaksa's successor, Maithripala Sirisena, broached the idea of an equity swap for some of its debt to China. During then Sri Lankan prime minister Ranil Wickremesinghe's visit to Beijing in April 2016, he told reporters "we've been talking with some companies and also the government of China about the possibility of some infrastructure projects becoming public-private partnerships, in which part of the debt will become equity held by Chinese companies."¹⁷⁹ In 2017 China Merchants Port Holdings (CMPH) became the majority shareholder in a joint venture with Sri Lanka Ports Authority that holds a concession to develop and operate the port for 99 years. CMPH paid the Sri Lanka Ports Authority \$1.12 billion for the joint venture stake.¹⁸⁰

Sovereign Debt Risks from CPEC Power Projects

Concerns that the CPEC power sector projects may increase Pakistan's sovereign debt are valid for two reasons. First, the government of Pakistan has issued sovereign guarantees to CPEC power producers for payments from the country's sole buyer of electricity, the Central Power Purchasing Authority (CPPA) and to the lenders to a coal mine and power plant being developed under CPEC. Second, the CPEC power plants may increase the circular debt in Pakistan's power sector, which the government may pay off based on past practice.

In theory, CPEC power sector projects should not increase the Pakistani government's debt burden—if consumers pay their bills in full—because the government is not borrowing money to finance these projects. Instead, Chinese and other financial institutions are lending money to special purpose companies (SPCs) established to develop the projects. Most of these SPCs are majority owned by Chinese firms (see table 6). For example, the International and Commercial Bank of China is the head of a syndicate that agreed to provide \$1.44 billion to Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Pakistan) Ltd., an SPC owned by China's Huaneng Shandong Power and Shandong Ruyi Group that developed and operates the Sahiwal coal-fired power plant. Similarly, the Export-Import Bank of China provided \$1.55 billion to Port Qasim Electric Power Company Limited and an SPC owned by PowerChina and Qatar's Al Mirqab Group that developed and is now operating the Port Qasim coal-fired power plant.

(The CPEC power projects also involve equity financing equivalent to 15–30 percent of the total project cost. This capital is typically provided by Chinese firms and their partners. For example, China Three Gorges Corporation provided 93 percent [\$316.2 million] of the equity financing for the Karot Hydropower Station.¹⁸⁶)


Project	Debt: equity	Lender	Borrower	Borrower's owner	Amount (\$ million)
Port Qasim coal power plant	75:25	China Eximbank	Port Qasim Electric Power Co.	PowerChina, Al Mirqab Group	1,550
Suki Kinari Hydropower Station	75:25	China Eximbank, ICBC	SK Hydro	China Gezhouba Group, Haseeb Khan	1,416
Sahiwal coal power plant	80:20	ICBC-led syndicate	Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Pakistan)	Huaneng Shandong Power, Shandong Ruyi Group	1,440
Engro Thar Block II coal power plant	75:25	Bank of China, Bank of Communications, CCB, CDB, China Eximbank, ICBC, Pakistani Banks	Engro Powergen Thar Limited	Engro Powergen, China Machinery & Engineering Corp., Habib Bank, Liberty Mills	831
TEL Thar Block II coal power plant	75:25	CDB, Habib Bank	Thar Energy Limited (TEL)	Hub Power Company, Fauji Fertilizer Limited, China Machinery & Engineering Corp.	262 (from CDB)
Hydro China Dawood wind farm	70:30	ICBC	Hydro China Dawood Power	Hydro China, Dawood Power	78.8
Quaid-e-Azam solar park	80:20	CDB, China Eximbank	Zonergy	ZTE Corp.	62.2 (and RMB 400 million)
UEP wind farm	75:25	CDB	United Energy Pakistan	United Energy Group, Orient Group Investment Holdings	252
Sachal wind farm	85:15	ICBC	Sachal Energy Development	Arif Habib	100 (export buyer's credit)
Karot Hydropower Station	80:20	CDB, China Eximbank, SRF, IFC	Karot Power Co.	CSAIL (owned by China Three Gorges Corporation, SRF, IFC)	1,392
Three Gorges second and third wind power projects	70:30	CDB	Three Gorges Second Wind Farm Pakistan, Three Gorges Third Wind Farm Pakistan	CSAIL (owned by China Three Gorges Corporation, SRF, IFC)	NA
Hub coal power plant	75:25	Bank of China, Bank of Communications, CCB, CDB, China Eximbank, ICBC	China Power Hub Generation Co.	China Power International Holding, Hub Power Co.	1,500

Table 6: Debt financing arrangements for select CPEC power projects

Sources: See Appendix B.

Abbreviations: CCB = China Construction Bank; CDB = China Development Bank; China Eximbank = Export-Import Bank of China; CSAIL = China Three Gorges South Asia Corporation Limited; ICBC = Industrial and Commercial Bank of China; IFC = International Finance Corporation; SRF = Silk Road Fund



However, Pakistan's sovereign debt is likely to increase if the government has to honor the sovereign guarantees it issues to back the development of CPEC power projects. Some of these sovereign guarantees support the payment obligations of power the purchaser, the CPPA, to the power producers.¹⁸⁷ As discussed above, if consumers do not pay the distribution companies in full, the distribution companies will not have enough money to pay the CPPA, which will not have enough money to pay the power producers. Under the sovereign guarantee, in the event of a default of payments by the CPPA leading to the termination of the power purchase agreement between the power producer and the CPPA, the power producer can exercise a put option to sell its power plant and recover its investment and return on investment from the government of Pakistan.

Another risk to Pakistan's debt sustainability posed by CPEC projects to which Islamabad has issued a sovereign guarantee to the lenders is the fact that the majority of the loans made by Chinese financial institutions to the companies operating the CPEC power plants are in foreign currencies, mostly US dollars.¹⁸⁸ If there is an external shock that results in a substantial devaluation of Pakistan's currency (which Islamabad devalued five times in 2018 alone), then otherwise well-performing power plants may become financially unviable.¹⁸⁹ As the Pakistani rupee devalues, the cost domestically of servicing the debt increases and the risk of default also increases because the loans to the project companies are in foreign currency and the power projects are earning revenue in Pakistani rupees. (This risk applies to the Engro Thar Block II integrated coal mine and power plant, for which the government of Pakistan issued a sovereign guarantee in the amount of \$700 million to the consortiums of Chinese and Pakistani banks that are providing \$1.5 billion to help finance the project.¹⁹⁰)

External shocks are one of the primary reasons that countries develop external debt problems. For example, during the East Asian Financial Crisis of 1997-1998, the decline (and eventual reversal) of capital flows to the region resulted to currency devaluations. The devaluations caused the size of external debt, measured in terms of domestic currency, to suddenly balloon. The inability of private sector borrowers to service foreign currency debts, which resulted in widespread financial distress and even bankruptcies, contributed to the decision of Thailand, Indonesia, and South Korea to seek financial support from the IMF and other multilateral financial institutions.¹⁹¹

Finally, the CPEC power plants may increase Pakistan's sovereign debt by increasing the circular debt in Pakistan's power sector. Electricity generated by new power plants—regardless of whether they are part of CPEC—is likely to increase circular debt if the percentage of transmission and distribution losses remain constant and electricity consumption and bills increase.¹⁹² When circular debt among power sector stakeholders becomes unsustainable, the government steps in to either repay the growing debts of the sector or engages in government borrowing to reduce the debts (or both). For example, the government of former prime minister Nawaz Sharif paid off cleared circular debt of \$4.8 billion after coming to power in June 2013.¹⁹³ More recently, in March 2019, the government of Prime Minister Imran Khan raised \$1.44 billion from Islamic banks to reduce circular debt.¹⁹⁴



Deliberate Debt Trap Unlikely

It seems unlikely that Chinese banks and firms are developing power plants in Pakistan for the purpose of trapping the country in debt. After all, as some analysts have noted, there is no evidence that Beijing has such a strategy.¹⁹⁵ Moreover, several features of the China-Pakistan relationship, the stake the Chinese government and companies have in sustainable CPEC projects, and the involvement of non-Chinese firms and banks in some of the CPEC power projects suggest that these projects are not part of a Chinese plan to generate problematic increases in Pakistan's sovereign debt.

First, an attempt by China to intentionally weaken Pakistan's economy would risk undermining the broader China-Pakistan relationship. Leaders from both countries speak of the bilateral relationship in glowing terms, characterizing it as "higher than the Himalayas, deeper than the ocean and sweeter than the sweetest honey."¹⁹⁶ According to Andrew Small, an expert on China-Pakistan relations at the German Marshall Fund, the bilateral relationship is supported by favorable views of China across the political system and with the general public. Indeed, a poll conducted by the Pew Research Center in 2015 found that Pakistan had the most favorable views of China (besides China itself) out of 40 countries surveyed, with 82 percent of Pakistanis surveyed holding a favorable opinion of China.¹⁹⁷ If Pakistan's political elites and population were to perceive China as intentionally seeking to harm Pakistan's economy, this perception would likely undercut public support for a strong relationship with China and make the Pakistani government less responsive to Chinese interests.¹⁹⁸

Second, saddling Islamabad with an unsustainable debt burden runs counter to Beijing's interest in a more prosperous and stable Pakistan.¹⁹⁹ The Chinese government likely regards greater economic prosperity in Pakistan as benefiting China by enabling Pakistan to more effectively address challenges to China's security from inside and outside of Pakistan's borders. Beijing is concerned about Pakistan's role as a hub for growing militance in South Asia, which creates an enabling environment for extremist groups, including ones that have threatened China.²⁰⁰ There is a sense in China that a stronger economy could ease such threats by generating more resources for law and order and creating more employment opportunities.²⁰¹ Similarly, a more prosperous and stable Pakistan enhances its ability to serve as a counterweight to India.²⁰²

Third, deep ties between the Chinese and Pakistani militaries make it unlikely that China would have to resort to using debt as a source of leverage to pressure Pakistan to grant China's navy greater access to Pakistani ports or establish a base. After all, military relations are the core of the bilateral relationship.²⁰³ China has been Pakistan's only reliable weapons supplier and has helped Pakistan develop ballistic missiles and nuclear weapons.²⁰⁴ Moreover, China's navy already has access to Karachi, which it visited 10 times between 2008 and 2017.²⁰⁵

Fourth, China's support for the IMF's latest program for Pakistan is another indicator that Beijing is not deliberately seeking to create a problematic increase in Pakistan's debt. China is the largest contributor to the \$17.5 billion that the IMF program has mobilized from key bilateral partners and multilateral development banks for the first 12 months of the 39-month bailout package providing \$6.3 billion.²⁰⁶ It is IMF staff and management that have the



most leverage over Pakistan because they set Pakistan's borrowing ceilings and targets for budgetary and monetary policy.²⁰⁷ Moreover, China has agreed to ensure that any new financing it provides to Pakistan is consistent with the debt sustainability objectives of the IMF program.²⁰⁸

Fifth, if the CPEC power projects were to push Pakistan into a debt crisis, such an outcome would likely tarnish the image of the BRI, an outcome China's government wants to avoid. Beijing's release of a debt sustainability framework for BRI projects at the Belt and Road Forum in April 2019 reflects both concern in Beijing about the "debt trap diplomacy" narrative and an effort to support sustainable projects.²⁰⁹ To be sure, one of the reasons Beijing published the framework is to rebuff international criticism of Chinese lending practices.²¹⁰ However, the development of the framework, which the ministry of finance says is based on the IMF/World Bank debt sustainability framework for low-income countries, appears to reflect an effort to understand and promote debt sustainability.²¹¹ According to Christine Lagarde, the IMF worked with the Chinese "for weeks and weeks...to explain how debt sustainability matters."²¹²

In addition, the Chinese companies developing the CPEC power sector projects are probably aware that the sustainability of these projects may have implications for their ability to expand into other overseas markets. For example, Shanghai Electric, which is involved in the construction of a mine mouth power plant in Thar Block I, stated in a filing with the Hong Kong Stock Exchange that "being the Company's first general contracting project on coal-fired supercritical units in the international market, this would lay the foundation for the Company to explore its overseas market on supercritical coal-fired power generation equipment."²¹³ Similarly, PowerChina apparently intends for the Sahiwal coal power plant to help it attract additional business abroad. According to a Chinese energy industry publication, the PowerChina employees who built the plant maintain that "the quality of overseas projects is the best international business card."²¹⁴

Sixth, the participation of non-Chinese entities in CPEC power projects suggests that other actors expect these projects to be sustainable. For example, the World Bank's International Finance Corporation (IFC) owns a 15 percent stake in China Three Gorges South Asia Investment Corporation (CSAIL), whose subsidiaries developed three wind farms in Pakistan. Another CSAIL subsidiary is developing the Karot hydropower project. The IFC also provided \$100 million in debt financing to support the development of Karot.²¹⁵ Meanwhile, the United Kingdom's Oracle Power is involved in another CPEC project, the development of a surface mine and a 1,320 MW mine mouth power plant in the Thar Desert.²¹⁶ Qatar's Al Mirqab Capital is a sponsor of the Port Qasim coal-fired power plant.²¹⁷ Saudi Arabia's Al Jomaih Group is a sponsor of the Suki Kinari hydropower project.²¹⁸

Numerous Pakistani firms are also involved in CPEC power projects. The Hub Power Company Limited, for example, is invested in three CPEC power plants (Hub, TEL, and Thalnova) and the Sindh Engro Coal Mining Company (SECMC), a Pakistan-China joint venture, which is developing a coal mine in Thar Block II as part of CPEC.²¹⁹ Habib Bank, Pakistan's largest bank, has provided equity and debt financing for the development of a coal mine by SECMC and an associated power plant in Thar Block II.²²⁰



It is probably safe to say that these companies would not purposely invest in unsustainable power plants. This is especially true for the IFC, a global development institution with a mission to help the private sector end extreme poverty and boost prosperity.²²¹ The IFC is supporting the Karot Hydropower Project to end Pakistan's power shortage and improve the sustainability of Pakistan's power sector.²²² Similarly, shareholders of Oracle, which is listed on the London Stock Exchange, and the Hub Power Company Limited, which is listed on the Pakistan Stock Exchange, probably expect their companies to make investments that generate positive returns.



"Debt Trap Diplomacy": Who is Trapping Who?

Much of the commentary on the debt traps of China's Belt and Road Initiative focuses on the risks to host countries that borrow money from Chinese financial institutions to finance the development of infrastructure projects. Analysts have warned that if these projects prove to be economically unviable, the borrowing country may be forced to sell strategic assets to Chinese buyers to repay their debts or find themselves subject to Chinese influence.

However, Yasheng Huang of MIT argues that China may also find itself "trapped" by unsustainable infrastructure projects financed by Chinese banks. He notes that China may fall victim to the "obsolescent bargaining model," which holds that a foreign investor loses bargaining power as its invests more in a host country.²²³

Pakistan may serve as a cautionary tale of the risks Chinese firms face as they deepen their involvement in BRI countries with challenging economic environments. Islamabad's failure to make good on its promise to insulate Chinese power companies from circular debt is a case in point. Pakistani government officials agreed to set up a revolving fun to ensure uninterrupted payments to CPEC power plants for electricity.²²⁴ Chinese power companies and government officials regarded the fund as a key measure for mitigating the risk of producing power in Pakistan.²²⁵ However, the fund has yet to be established. In December 2018, officials with Pakistan's Central Power Purchasing Agency (CPPA) said the agency had no money to establish the fund while the Ministry of Finance also refused to contribute to the fund.²²⁶

As a result, the Chinese companies that operate the Sahiwal and Port Qasim coal power plants are exposed to circular debt. In April 2018, Pakistani press reported that the Sahiwal plant, the first generating unit of which came online in May 2017, had "neared the brink of closure" because the government had yet to pay it US\$ 172 million for power purchases.²²⁷ In May 2019, roughly one year after the Port Qasim coal power plant started commercial operations on April 25, 2018, the CPPA owed the Chinese-Qatari joint venture that operates the plant, Port Qasim Electric Power Company (PQEPC), more than \$150 million in late payments for electricity.²²⁸ The company's CEO, Shen Yuming, told the Pakistani media in May 2019 that the delayed payments were a daily problem for the company: "We are trying our best to generate more power and get more tariff payment timely as you know this is a power plant, we have to import coal from the international market, also we have to repay debt to the financing banks."²²⁹

Although the government of Pakistan issued a sovereign guarantee to support the CPPA's payment obligations to PQEPC, history shows that getting the government of Pakistan to honor its obligations under the sovereign guarantee may be easier said than done. Power producers in Pakistan have invoked sovereign guarantees to collect recover unpaid bills at least four times in the 2010s, with Islamabad defaulting in 2012.²³⁰



CONCLUSION

The dominance of coal in the CPEC power generation mix reflects not only a "push" from China but also a strong "pull" from Pakistan. Nawaz Sharif's election as prime minister on a platform to end energy electricity shortages in the same year that Xi Jinping unveiled the BRI laid the groundwork for China's emergence as a major financier of coal power plants in Pakistan. Sharif's objective of ending Pakistan's electricity crisis before he stood for reelection in 2018 and to prioritize the use of domestic coal in a bid to decrease generation costs and conserve foreign exchange dovetailed with China's search for overseas markets in which to export excess coal power generation equipment and the ability of Chinese power companies and financial institutions to quickly execute projects.

The large amount of coal-fired generation capacity being developed under CPEC underscores the importance of host country preferences in determining the environmental sustainability of the BRI. Many analyses of China's export of coal power plants tend to focus more on the factors driving China to sell coal power generation technology and equipment than on the factors pushing host countries to buy them.²³¹ In the case of Pakistan, Chinese officials and executives had an eager customer; Pakistan had been waiting for decades for foreign investors to provide the capital and know-how to develop the vast coal resources in the Thar Desert as a fuel for power generation. Consequently, it is not just China but also host countries that will determine how green the BRI will be.

That said, China is certainly in a position to do more to influence the decisions other countries make about what kinds of generation projects to build. While China can't force other countries to buy power generation equipment they do not want, China does have the experience and the money to encourage host countries to move toward cleaner power generation mixes. China has done a remarkable job of expanding the role of renewables—and shrinking the role of coal—in its own electricity mix. As a result, Chinese firms have considerable expertise in installing and commencing operation of wind and solar plants that could be shared with Pakistan and other countries less familiar with renewable energy. An issue to watch is whether Beijing will become more comfortable in shaping the environmental preferences of other countries to conform with its emphasis on green development as an important component of the BRI.

It seems unlikely that China's financing for the CPEC power projects is part of a deliberate strategy to create debt problems in Pakistan in order to gain control of strategic assets or influence over decision-making in Islamabad. Indeed, the economic and strategic interests of the Chinese government are arguably better served by the development of sustainable infrastructure projects that support the growth of Pakistan's economy. That said, there are risks that the CPEC power projects may add to Islamabad's debt burden because of the sovereign guarantees issued by the government of Pakistan to support the projects and the ongoing buildup of circular debt in the country's power sector.

The CPEC power plants also demonstrate that it is not just host countries but also Chinese companies that may suffer adverse consequences from financing economically unviable



infrastructure projects. It appears that one of the main reasons Chinese firms were willing to do what many other foreign investors were not—develop a large number of power plants in Pakistan—is because the government of Pakistan committed to establishing a revolving fund to ensure uninterrupted payments to Chinese power producers. The fund has not been established, probably due to Pakistan's precarious financial situation, and Chinese power producers are not being paid on time, making it difficult for them to purchase coal and repay debt.



APPENDIX A: SOURCES FOR TABLE 5. GENERATION TECHNOLOGIES OF CPEC COAL POWER PLANTS

Port Qasim Coal Power Project

National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Generation License for Port Qasim Power Company (Pvt.) Limited, February 3, 2015, 6, <u>https://nepra.org.pk/Licences/</u> <u>Generation/IPP-2002/LAG-273%20PORT%20QASIM%20EPCPL%20GENERATION%20</u> <u>LIC%2003-02-2015%201450-55.PDF</u>

Sahiwal Coal Power Project

National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Generation License for Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Pakistan) Energy (Private) Limited, June 10, 2015, 11, <u>https://nepra.org.pk/Licences/Generation/IPP-2002/LAG-292%20Huaneng%20Shandong%20</u> Generation%20Licence%2010-06-2015.PDF

Engro Thar Block II Coal Power Project

Sindh Engro Coal Mining Company, "Projects," https://www.secmc.com.pk/#

TEL Thar Block II Coal Power Project

National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Approval of NEPRA in the Matter of Application of Thar Energy Limited (TEL) for Unconditional Acceptance of Upfront Thar Coal Tariff for 330 MW Coal Power Plant at Sindh, October 18, 2016, 5, 9, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/IPPs/003%20Coal/Thar%20Energy%20Limited%20(TEL)/TRF-368%20TEL%2018-10-2016%2014208-10.PDF</u>

Thalnova Thar Block II Coal Power Project

National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Approval of NEPRA in the Matter of Application of Thalnova Power Thar (Pvt.) Limited (TPTPL) for Unconditional Acceptance of Upfront Thar Coal Tariff for 330 MW Coal Power Plant at Sindh, October 18, 2016, 4–5, https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/IPPs/003%20Coal/ThalNova%20 Power%20Thar%20(Pvt.)%20Limited%20(TPTPL)/TRF-367%20TPTPL%2018-10-2016%2014217-19.PDF



Gwadar Coal Power Project

National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Tariff Determination for Coal-Fired Power Plant at Gwadar, December 19, 2018, 9, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/</u> <u>IPPs/003%20Coal/CIHC%20Pak/TRF-434%20CPPCL%20Determination%2019-12-</u> 2018%2019549-51.PDF

SSRL Thar Block I Coal Power Project

National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Generation License for Thar Coal Block-I Power Generation Company, January 5, 2017, 4, <u>https://nepra.org.pk/Licences/</u> <u>Generation/IPP-2002/LAG-338%20GL%20Thar%20Coal%20Block-I%20Power%20</u> <u>Generation%20company%20Pvt%20Itd%2005-01-2017.PDF</u>

Hub Coal Power Project

National Electric Power Regulatory Authority, Generation License for China Power Hub Generation Company (Private) Limited, September 8, 2016, 9, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Licences/Generation/IPP-2002/China%20Power%20Hub%20Generation%20</u> <u>Company/Generation%20License%20LAG-314%20CPHGCPL%2007-09-2016%2012577-82.PDF</u>

Thar Mine Mouth Oracle Power Plant

Oracle Power PLC, Issue of Letter of Intent and Notice to Proceed, February 12, 2018, <u>https://markets.ft.com/data/announce/detail?dockey=1323-13528914-0024H71RFPS91NGCFRESIV4HFV</u>



APPENDIX B: SOURCES FOR TABLE 6. DEBT FINANCING ARRANGEMENTS FOR SELECT CPEC POWER PROJECTS

Port Qasim Coal Power Plant

"China Power Construction Corporation Limited Foreign Investment Announcement" (中国电力建设股份有限公司对外投资公告; Zhongguo dianli jianshe gufen youxian gongsi duiwai touzi baogao), Shanghai Stock Exchange (上海证券交易所; Shanghai zhengquan jiaoyisuo), April 9, 2015, <u>http://static.sse.com.cn/disclosure/listedinfo/</u> <u>announcement/c/2015-04-08/601669_20150409_2.pdf.</u>

"Export-Import Bank of China Launches Mega Development Project of 2 x 660 Coalfired Power Plant," Legal Monitor, May 9, 2016, <u>http://www.legal-monitor.com/news/</u> <u>export-import-bank-china-launches-mega-development-project-2-x-660mw-coal-</u> <u>fired-power-plant-6.</u>

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, Port Qasim Coal-Fired Power Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part 7), October 1, 2018, <u>https://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/t1627103.htm.</u>

Suki Kinari Hydropower Station

Zhang Shiyun, "C.E.O.'s Address," SK Hydro, https://skhydro.com/ceo-s-address/.

"Lenders," SK Hydro, https://skhydro.com/lenders/.

"Suki Kinari Hydropower Plant," World Bank, <u>http://ppi.worldbank.org/snapshots/</u> project/suki-kinari-hydropower-plant-9041.

"China Gezhouba Group Company Limited: Announcement of the Signing of the Share Purchase Agreement and Foreign Investment by Wholly-Owned Subsidiaries" (中国葛 洲坝集团股份有限公司关于全资子公司签订股份认购协议暨对外投资的公告; Guanyu Zhongguo Gezhouba jituan youzian gongsi guanyu quanzi gongsi dianding gufen rengou xieyi ji duiwai touzi de gonggao), China Gezhouba Group Corporation (中国葛洲坝集团股份有限 公司; Zhongguo Gezhouba jituan youxian gongsi), July 30, 2016, <u>http://www.cggc.ceec.</u> <u>net.cn/module/download/downfile.jsp?classid=0&filename=1608011125285095363.pdf</u>.

Sahiwal Coal Power Plant

Huaneng Power International, Inc., Form 6-K, November 15, 2016, United States Securities and Exchange Commission, November 15, 2016, 6, 31, I(i)12, <u>https://www.sec.</u> <u>gov/Archives/edgar/data/929058/000134100416001753/form6k.htm</u>.



"ICBC Supports First Large Energy Project in the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor," June 14, 2017, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, <u>http://www.icbc.com.cn/icbc/en/newsupdates/icbc%20news/</u> ICBCSupportsFirstLargeEnergyProjectintheChinaPakistanEconomicCorridor.htm.

"The First Large-Scale Energy Project of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor Has Been Completed and Put into Operation" (中巴经济走廊首个大型能源项目建成投产; ZhongBa zoulang shou ge daxing nengyuan xiangmu jiancheng touchan), July 14, 2017, Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (中国工商银行; Zhongguo gongshang yinhang), <u>http://m.icbc.com.cn/ibc</u>

Engro Thar Block II Coal Power Plant

"A Historic Milestone for Mining and Power Projects in Thar Block II as Sindh Engro Coal Mining Company and Engro Powergen Thar Limited Achieve Financial Close," Engro, <u>https://www.engro.com/news-center/a-historic-milestone-for-mining-andpower-projects/.</u>

"Engro Thar Coal-Fired Power Plant Phase 1," World Bank, <u>http://ppi.worldbank.org/</u> <u>snapshots/project/engro-thar-coal-fired-power-plant-phase-1-8767.</u>

TEL Thar Block II Coal Power Plant

"GE Signs Agreements to Supply Equipment and 12-Year Maintenance Services for the 330 MW Thar Energy Limited Power Plant in Pakistan," November 7, 2018, <u>https://www.genewsroom.com/press-releases/ge-signs-agreements-supply-equipment-and-12-year-maintenance-services-330-mw-thar.</u>

"Chinese Bank to Loan \$262mln for Thar Coal Power Project," News, December 22, 2018, <u>https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/408958-chinese-bank-to-loan-262mln-for-thar-coal-power-project.</u>

"Fauji Fertilizer Plans \$39mln Investment in Thar Energy," *The News International*, April 4, 2018, <u>https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/300178-fauji-fertilizer-plans-39mln-investment-in-thar-energy</u>.

Hydro China Dawood Wind Farm

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, Dawood 50MW Wind Farm Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part I), October 1, 2018, <u>https://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/t1627097.htm.</u>

"ICBC Offers USD25 mln Loans for Pakistan's 49.5 MW Wind Farm Power Project," December 8, 2015, <u>http://en.xfafinance.com/html/Companies/2015/175098.shtml.</u>



Quaid-e-Azam Solar Park

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, Zonergy Solar Power Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part 5), October 1, 2018, <u>http://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/CPEC/t1627101.htm.</u>

"One Belt, One Road Drives China's Energy Companies to Go Global" (一带一路"带动中 国能源企业走出去; Yidai yilu daidong Zhongguo nengyuan qiye zouchuqu), Xinhua (新 华), March 5, 2017, <u>http://www.xinhuanet.com//money/2017-03/05/c_129506810.htm.</u>

"Zonergy Company Profile," Zonergy, <u>http://zonergy.com.pk/zonergy-company-profile.</u>

UEP Wind Farm

"Signing Ceremony of the Loan Agreement between China Development Bank and UEP for JHIMPIR Wind Power Project in Sindh Province," United Energy Group, <u>http://</u>www.uegl.com.hk/en/newsDetail?nid=13.

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, UEP 100MW Wind Farm Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part 3), October 1, 2018, <u>http://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/t1627099.htm.</u>

Sachal Wind Farm

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, Sachal 50MW Wind Farm Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part 2), October 1, 2018, <u>http://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/t1627098.htm.</u>

"ICBC Strongly Supports New Energy Development along 'One Belt, One Road," Industrial and Commercial Bank of China, March 31, 2015, <u>http://www.icbc.com.cn/icbc/en/newsupdates/icbc%20news/</u> ICBCStronglySupportsNewEnergyDevelopmentalongOneBeltandOneRoad.htm.

Karot Hydropower Station

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, Karot Hydropower Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part 10), October 1, 2018, <u>http://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/CPEC/t1627107.htm</u>.

"About CSAIL," China Three Gorges Southeast Asia Investment Ltd., <u>http://ctgsail.com/</u> <u>about-us.</u>

"Mourant Ozannes Advises on First Chinese 'One Belt One Road' Infrastructure Development Fund Project," Mourant, March 30, 2017, <u>https://www.mourant.com/2017/</u> <u>mourant-ozannes-advises-on-first-chinese--one-belt-one-road--infrastructure-</u> <u>development-fund-project.aspx.</u>



"Karot Hydropower Plant," World Bank, <u>https://ppi.worldbank.org/en/snapshots/</u> project/Karot-Hydropower-Plant-9030.

Three Gorges Second and Third Wind Power Projects

"About CSAIL," China Three Gorges Southeast Asia Investment Ltd., <u>http://ctgsail.</u> <u>com/about-us.</u>

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, Three Gorges Second Wind Power Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part 16), October 1, 2018, <u>http://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/t1627102.htm.</u>

Hub Coal Power Project

Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, China Power Hub Generation 2x660MW Coal-Fired Power Project: Special Report on CPEC Projects (Energy: Part 8), October 1, 2018, <u>https://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/ CPEC/t1627105.htm.</u>

"CPHGC, Consortium of Banks Sign \$1.5 Billion Foreign Financing Deal," *Business Recorder*, October 31, 2017, <u>https://fp.brecorder.com/2017/10/20171031230962/.</u>

"Coal Based Private Power Project of 1320 MW Achieves Financial Closure," February 26, 2018, Private Power and Infrastructure Board, January 26, 2018, <u>http://www.ppib.gov.pk/CPHGC_fc_26jan18.htm.</u>



NOTES

- Nick Macfie, "China's Li Offers to Help End Pakistan's Energy Crisis," *Reuters*, May 22, 2013, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-pakistan-china-idUSBRE94L06G20130522</u> and Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China, "Premier Li Keqiang and Pakistani President Asif Ali Zardari Meet the Press," May 23, 2013, <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/topics_665678/lkqipsg_665690/t1044071.shtml</u>.
- 2. Katherine Houreld, "China and Pakistan Launch Economic Corridor Plan Worth \$46 Billion," *Reuters*, April 20, 2015, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-pakistan-china/china-and-pakistan-launch-economic-corridor-plan-worth-46-billion-idUSKBN0NA12T20150420</u>.
- For more on CPEC, see Arif Rafiq, "The China-Pakistan Economic Corridor: The Lure of Easy Financing and the Perils of Poor Planning," *Asian Affairs* 50, no. 2 (2019): 236-248; Arif Rafiq, "The China-Pakistan Economic Corridor: Barriers and Impact," United States Institute of Peace, October 25, 2017, <u>https://www.usip.org/publications/2017/10/china-pakistan-economic-corridor</u>; Andrew Small, "First Movement: Pakistan and the Belt and Road Initiative," *Asia Policy*, no. 24 (July 2017): 80-87, Project Muse; and Daniel S. Markey and James White, "Behind China's Gambit in Pakistan," Council on Foreign Relations, May 12, 2016, <u>https://www.cfr.org/expert-brief/behind-chinas-gambit-pakistan</u>.
- 4. Embassy of the People's Republic of China in Islamabad, "Latest Progress on the CPEC," December 29, 2018, <u>http://pk.chineseembassy.org/eng/zbgx/CPEC/t1626097.htm</u>.
- 5. Rafiq, "The China-Pakistan Economic Corridor: The Lure of Easy Financing and the Perils of Poor Planning," 237.
- 6. The China-Pakistan Economic Corridor Establishes a Model for the Belt and Road Initiative" (中巴经济走廊树起"一带一路"样板; ZhongBa zoulang shu qi "yidai yilu" yangban), *China Business Times* (中华工商时报; *Zhonghua gongshang shibao*), January 6, 2017, <u>http://</u><u>fec.mofcom.gov.cn/article/fwydyl/zgzx/201701/20170102496988.shtml</u> and "Chronology of China's Belt and Road Initiative," Xinhua, March 28, 2015, <u>http://english.gov.cn/news/</u><u>top_news/2015/04/20/content_281475092566326.htm</u>.
- National Development and Reform Commission, Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Ministry of Commerce of the People's Republic of China, "Action Plan on the Belt and Road Initiative," March 28, 2015, <u>http://english.gov.cn/archive/publications/2015/03/30/ content_281475080249035.htm</u> and "Full Text of Xi's Speech at Opening of Belt and Road Forum," Xinhua, May 14, 2017, <u>http://www.xinhuanet.com/english/2017-05/14/c_136282982.htm</u>.
- 8. "The China-Pakistan Economic Corridor Establishes a Model for the Belt and Road Initiative."
- "11 CPEC Projects Completed, 11 in Progress," Nation, December 31, 2018, <u>https://nation.com.</u> <u>pk/31-Dec-2018/11-cpec-projects-completed-11-in-progress</u> and Embassy of the People's Republic of China in the Islamic Republic of Pakistan, "Latest Progress on the CPEC."



- 10. CPEC Secretariat, Ministry of Planning, Development and Reform, "CPEC Projects," China Pakistan Economic Corridor, <u>http://cpec.gov.pk/index</u>.
- National Electric Power Regulatory Authority (NEPRA), State of Industry Report 2017, 7, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Publications/State%20of%20Industry%20Reports/State%20</u> <u>of%20industry%20report%202017.pdf</u>.
- 12. In Organisation for Economic Co-operation (OECD) countries, generation from coal decreased by an average of 1.3 percent per year between 2000 and 2017. Generation from coal reached its peak in OECD electricity generation in 2007. International Energy Agency, *Electricity Information 2018* (OECD/IEA, 2018), xiv-xv.
- 13. The term "problematic increases in debt" is from Christine Lagarde, "BRI 2.0: Stronger Frameworks in the New Phase of Bet and Road," Remarks at the Belt and Road Forum, Beijing, China, April 26, 2019, International Monetary Fund, <u>https://www.imf.org/en/News/</u> <u>Articles/2019/04/25/sp042619-stronger-frameworks-in-the-new-phase-of-belt-and-road</u>.
- 14. International Renewable Energy Agency (IRENA), *Renewables Readiness Assessment: Pakistan*, April 2018, 7, <u>http://www.irena.org/publications/2018/Apr/Renewables-</u> <u>Readiness-Assessment-Pakistan</u>.
- IRENA, Renewables Readiness Assessment: Pakistan, 7 and "Glimmer of Light in Pakistan's Blackout Crisis," Financial Times, April 30, 2017, <u>http://www.ft.com/content/12643508-2b0b-11e7-9ec8-168383da43b7</u>.
- 16. Declan Walsh and Salman Masood, "Pakistan Faces Struggle to Keep Its Lights On," *New York Times*, May 27, 2013, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2013/05/28/world/asia/pakistan-electricity-shortages-reach-crisis-stage.html</u>.
- 17. Government of Pakistan, Policy Framework and Package of Incentives for Private Sector Power Generation Projects in Pakistan, March 1994, Private Power and Infrastructure Board, <u>http://www.ppib.gov.pk/Power%20Policy%201994.pdf</u>; Rashid Aziz and Munawar Baseer Ahmad, *Pakistan's Power Crisis: The Way Forward*, United States Institute of Peace, Special Report 375, June, 2015, 11, <u>https://www.usip.org/sites/default/files/SR375-Pakistans-Power-Crisis-The-Way-Forward.pdf</u>; and Safiya Aftab, "Pakistan's Energy Crisis: Causes, Consequences, and Possible Remedies," Norwegian Peacebuilding Resource Centre, January 2014, https://www.files.ethz.ch/isn/177484/ade59fba5daf67a11a1c217434abf440.pdf.
- Julia M. Fraser, "Lessons from the Independent Private Power Experience in Pakistan," Energy and Mining Sector Board Discussion Paper No. 14, World Bank, May 2005, 6, <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/729661468285358780/</u> pdf/337700rev0Less1rivate0Energy1SB1N14.pdf.
- 19. This paragraph is based on Aziz and Ahmad, "Pakistan's Power Crisis: The Way Forward," 11.
- 20. NEPRA, State of Industry Report 2013, 89, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Publications/</u> <u>State%20of%20Industry%20Reports/State%20of%20Industry%20Report%202013.pdf</u> and NEPRA, State of Industry Report 2017, 7.



- 21. For a comprehensive discussion of Pakistan's circular debt problem, see United States Agency for International Development, "The Causes and Impacts of Power Sector Circular Debt in Pakistan," March 2013, <u>http://climateinfo.pk/frontend/web/attachments/data-type/</u> <u>USAID%20(2013)%20The%20Causes%20and%20Impacts%20of%20Power%20Sector%20</u> Circular%20Debt.pdf.
- 22. Sadia Malik, Maha Qasim, and Hasan Saeed, "Green Finance in Pakistan: Barriers and Solutions," ADBI Working Paper Series, No. 880 (October 2018), 4–5, Tokyo: Asian Development Bank Institute, <u>https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/publication/460346/</u> <u>adbi-wp880.pdf</u>.
- 23. This explanation of circular debt is based on a telephone interview with an expert on Pakistan's power sector, July 27, 2018; Fan Zhang, *In the Dark: How Much Do Power Sector Distortions Cost South Asia?*, World Bank, 2018, 97, <u>https://openknowledge.</u> worldbank.org/bitstream/handle/10986/30923/9781464811548.pdf; Barrister Asghar Khan, "The Circularity of Circular Debt," *Dawn*, September 5, 2017, <u>http://www.dawn.com/ news/1355712</u>; and Asad Hashim, "Lights Out: 'Circular Debt' Cripples Pakistan's Power Sector, *Al Jazeera*, May 24, 2019, <u>https://www.aljazeera.com/ajimpact/lights-circular-debtcripples-pakistans-power-sector-190524055240222.html.</u>
- 24. Zhang, In the Dark: How Much Do Power Sector Distortions Cost South Asia?, 43.
- 25. World Bank, Implementation Completion and Results Report on a Series of Credits in the Amount of SDR 744 Million (US\$1.1 Billion) to the Islamic Republic of Pakistan for Power Sector Reform Development Policy Credits I & II, December 29, 2017, <u>http://documents.</u> worldbank.org/curated/en/666511514909484545/ICR-Pakistan-Power-Sector-DPC-I-and-II-128258-and-P152021-12292017.docx.
- 26. "Energy Crisis Leaves Pakistan Textiles in Tatters," *Dawn*, July 3, 2011, <u>http://www.dawn.</u> <u>com/news/641242</u>. See also Saeed Shah, "Power Outages Hobble Pakistan's Biggest Exporters," *Wall Street Journal*, August 29, 2013, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/poweroutages-hobble-pakistan8217s-biggest-exporters-1385697931</u>.
- 27. Jon Boone, "Pakistan Power Cut Riots Spread as Politician's House Stormed," *Guardian*, June 19, 2012, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2012/jun/19/pakistan-power-cut-riots</u>.
- 28. Walsh and Masood, "Pakistan Faces Struggle to Keep Its Lights On."
- 29. Pakistan Muslim League (N), "National Agenda for Real Change: Manifesto 2013," 26–27, <u>https://pmo.gov.pk/documents/manifesto.pdf</u> and Owais Qarni, "PM Blames 'Regressive Policies' for All Crises," *Express Tribune*, November 22, 2015, <u>https://tribune.com.pk/</u> <u>story/996137/road-inaugration-pm-blames-regressive-policies-for-all-crises/</u>.
- 30. Aryn Baker, "Hope and Change, Pakistani Style," *Time*, May 27, 2013, <u>http://content.time.</u> <u>com/time/magazine/article/0,9171,2143546,00.html</u>.
- 31. Pakistan Muslim League (N), "National Agenda for Real Change: Manifesto 2013," 22-23.



- 32. Walsh and Masood, "Pakistan Faces Struggle to Keep Its Lights On."
- 33. Macfie, "China's Li Offers to Help End Pakistan's Energy Crisis."
- 34. Imran Ali Kundi, "Nawaz Courts Chinese Assistance for Ailing Economy," *Nation*, July 5, 2013, Factiva.
- 35. NEPRA, *State of Industry Report 2015*, 83, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Publications/</u> <u>State%20of%20Industry%20Reports/State%20of%20industry%20report%202017.pdf</u> and Zafar Bhutta, "Power Shortage Hits Record Peak," *Express Tribune*, June 26, 2018, <u>https://</u> <u>tribune.com.pk/story/1742548/1-electricity-deficit-power-shortfall-hits-record-peak/</u>.
- 36. NEPRA, State of Industry Report 2017, 7.
- 37. NEPRA, State of Industry Report 2017, 7.
- 38. United States Energy Information Administration, *International Energy Outlook 2017*, Appendix H: Reference Case Projections for Electricity Capacity and Generation by Fuel (2014–2050), September 14, 2017, 54, 57, <u>https://www.eia.gov/outlooks/archive/ieo17/pdf/apph.pdf</u>.
- 39. State Bank of Pakistan, Annual Report 2014–15, 34, <u>http://www.sbp.org.pk/reports/annual/arFY15/Vol1/APR-FY15(Complete).pdf</u> and United States Energy Information Administration, International Energy Outlook 2017, Appendix H, 54, 57.
- 40. Ministry of Water and Power, *Policy for Power Generation Projects 2002*, 3–4, <u>http://www.ppib.gov.pk/PowerPolicy2002.pdf</u>.
- 41. Private Power and Infrastructure Board (PPIB), "Pakistan Coal Power Generation Potential," June 2004, Foreword, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Policies/Coal%20Potential%20</u> <u>in%20Pakistan.pdf</u>.
- 42. Government of Pakistan, National Power Policy 2013, 13, <u>http://www.ppib.gov.pk/</u> <u>National%20Power%20Policy%202013.pdf</u>.
- 43. Sindh Board of Investment, "Coal Deposits at Thar Coalfield," 8, <u>http://www.sbi.gos.pk/</u> <u>pdf/sector/coal.pdf</u> and Engro, "Thar Coal Mining Project—Addressing Pakistan's Rising Energy Needs," <u>https://www.engro.com/our-stories/thar-coal-mining-project-addressing-pakistans-rising-energy-needs/</u>.
- 44. PPIB, "Pakistan Coal Power Generation Potential," June 2004, Foreword.
- 45. PPIB, "Pakistan Coal Power Generation Potential," June 2004, vii.
- 46. Rina Saeed Khan, "Pakistan Races to Tap Virgin Coal Fields to Meet Energy Crunch," *Reuters*, February 27, 2017, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-pakistan-coal-climatechange-feature/pakistan-races-to-tap-virgin-coal-fields-to-meet-energy-crunch-idUSKBN16612G</u>.
- 47. Amy Kover, *Answering Pakistan's Burning Question: How to Ignite Lignite?*, GE Reports, July 13, 2018, <u>https://www.ge.com/reports/answering-pakistans-burning-question-ignite-lignite/</u>.



- 48. Alex Morales and Marc Rosa, "EBRD Scraps Most Financing for Coal Power Plants," Bloomberg, December 20, 2013, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2013-12-10/ebrd-scraps-most-financing-for-coal-power-plants</u> and Anna Yukhananov and Valerie Volcovici, "World Bank to Limit Financing of Coal-Fired Plants," *Reuters*, July 16, 2013, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-worldbank-climate-coal/world-bank-to-limit-financing-of-coal-fired-plants-idUSBRE96F19U20130716.</u>
- 49. "World Bank Pulls Out of Thar Coal Project," *Express Tribune*, June 15, 2012, <u>https://tribune.com.pk/story/393924/world-bank-pulls-out-of-thar-coal-project/</u>.
- 50. Zofeen T. Ebrahim, "Why Is Pakistan Opening Up New Coal Power Plants, Even as the World Says Goodbye to Coal?," *Dawn*, June 24, 2019, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1490134</u>.
- 51. State Bank of Pakistan, Annual Report 2014–15, 34, <u>http://www.sbp.org.pk/reports/annual/arFY15/Anul-index-eng-15.htm</u>.
- 52. State Bank of Pakistan, Annual Report 2014-2015, 34.
- 53. "Conversion to Coal-Fired Power Generation," *Dawn*, October 1, 2012, <u>https://www.dawn.</u> <u>com/news/753267</u>.
- 54. "Govt All Set to Switch 3 Power Plants to Coal," *Pakistan Today*, October 20, 2013, <u>https://www.pakistantoday.com.pk/2013/10/20/govt-all-set-to-switch-3-power-plants-to-coal/</u>.
- 55. State Bank of Pakistan, Annual Report 2013–14, 54–55, <u>http://www.sbp.org.pk/reports/annual/arFY14/Anul-index-eng-14.htm</u>.
- 56. Abdul Manan, "Financing Energy: If Needed, I Will Sell the Coat off My Back, Says Shahbaz," *Express Tribune*, February 12, 2014, Factiva.
- NEPRA, Generation License for Port Qasim Electric Power Company (Pvt.) Limited, February 3, 2015, <u>https://nepra.org.pk/Licences/Generation/IPP-2002/LAG-273%20</u> PORT%20QASIM%20EPCPL%20GENERATION%20LIC%2003-02-2015%201450-55.PDF.
- 58. Interview, expert on Pakistan's energy sector, September 14, 2018.
- 59. NEPRA, State of Industry Report 2015, 6.
- 60. This paragraph is based on Malik, Qasim, and Saeed, "Green Finance in Pakistan: Barriers and Solutions," 1.
- 61. IRENA, Renewables Readiness Assessment Pakistan, 54.
- NEPRA, "Decision of the Authority Regarding Reconsideration Request Filed by Government of Pakistan in the Matter of Upfront Tariff for Coal Power Projects," June 26, 2014, Annex-17, 73, <u>https://nepra.org.pk/Tariff/Upfront/Decision%20of%20the%20</u> AUthority%20Upfront%20Coal.pdf.



- 63. Simon Nicholas and Tim Buckley, "Pakistan's Power Future: Renewable Energy Provides a More Diverse, Secure and Cost-Effective Alternative," Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis, December 2018, 22–23, <u>http://ieefa.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/</u> <u>Pakistans-Power-Future_December-2018.pdf</u>.
- 64. Mark Hibbs, "The Future of the Nuclear Suppliers Group," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, 2011, 2, <u>https://carnegieendowment.org/files/future_nsg.pdf</u>.
- 65. Paul K. Kerr and Mary Beth Nikitin, "Pakistan's Nuclear Weapons," Congressional Research Service, August 1, 2016, 27, <u>https://fas.org/sgp/crs/nuke/RL34248.pdf</u>.
- 66. Chris Buckley, "China Confirms Two Nuclear Reactors for Pakistan," *Reuters*, September 21, 2010, <u>https://af.reuters.com/article/energyOilNews/idAFTOE68K05X20100921</u> and International Atomic Energy Agency, "Country Nuclear Power Profiles: Pakistan," 2018, <u>https://cnpp.iaea.org/countryprofiles/Pakistan/Pakistan.htm</u>.
- Chris Buckley, "China Confirms Two Nuclear Reactors for Pakistan" and Saeed Shah, "Pakistan in Talks to Acquire 3 Nuclear Plants from China," *Wall Street Journal*, January 20, 2014, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/pakistan-in-talks-to-acquire-3-nuclear-plants-fromchina-1390228556</u>.
- 68. "Pakistan's Nuclear Weapons [Updated]," Congressional Research Service, August 1, 2016, 27, <u>https://crsreports.congress.gov/product/pdf/RL/RL34248/63</u> and Shah, "Pakistan in Talks to Acquire 3 Nuclear Plants from China."
- 69. Email from Andrew Small, April 2, 2019.
- 70. State Administration of Taxation of the People's Republic of China, Tax Guide for Chinese Residents Investing in Pakistan (中国居民赴巴基斯坦 投资税收指南; Zhongguo jumin Bjisitan touzi shuishuo zhinan), 2019, 11, <u>http://www.chinatax.gov.cn/n810219/n810744/n1671176/n1671206/c2581894/part/4393658.pdf</u>.
- 71. See, for example, He Shiyou, Xiao Xin, and Zang Na, "Analysis of Risk Allocation of Overseas Power Investment Project: A Case Study of Imported Coal-Fired Power BOO Project in Pakistan" (海外电力投资项目风险分担分析—以巴基斯坦进口煤电BOO 项目位列; Haiwai dianli touzi xiangmu fengxian fendanfenxi—yi Bajisitan jinkou meidian BOO xiangmu weilie), *Construction Economy* (建筑经济; Jianzhu jingji) 39, no. 1 (January 2018): 34, China Academic Journals.
- 72. Khaleeq Kiani, "High Return Offered to Attract Investment in Coal Power Sector," *Dawn*, May 21, 2014, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1107585</u>.
- NEPRA, Determination of National Electric Power Regulatory Authority in the Matter of Upfront Tariff for the Projects on Imported/Local Coal (Other than Thar Coal), June 6, 2013, 8, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/Upfront/TRF-100%20UTC%20Determination%20</u> <u>Upfront%20Coal%2006-06-2013%205444-46.pdf</u>.
- 74. Carl Bozzuto, "Power Plant Economics," 8, <u>https://ceic.tepper.cmu.edu/-/media/files/</u> <u>tepper/centers/ceic/seminar%20files/2006-2007/carl_bozzuto_seminar%20pdf.pdf?la=en</u>.



- 75. NEPRA, "Decision of the Authority Regarding Reconsideration Request Filed by Government of Pakistan in the Matter of Upfront Tariff for Coal Power Projects," June 26, 2014, 1, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/Upfront/Decision%20of%20the%20AUthority%20</u> <u>Upfront%20Coal.pdf</u>.
- 76. NEPRA, "Decision of the Authority Regarding Reconsideration Request Filed by Government of Pakistan in the Matter of Upfront Tariff for Coal Power Projects," 11-12.
- 77. NEPRA, "Determination of the Authority in the Matter of Thar Coal Upfront Tariff," July 9, 2014, 9, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/Upfront/COAL%20UpFront%20Tariff.pdf</u>.
- 78. NEPRA, "Determination of the Authority in the Matter of Thar Coal Upfront Tariff," 9.
- 79. Kiani, "High Return Offered to Attract Investment in Coal Power Sector."
- 80. NEPRA, "Determination of the Authority in the Matter of Upfront Generation Tariff for the Projects on Thar Coal," July 27, 2017, 14, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/Upfront/2017/</u> <u>TRF-TCUT%20Upfront%20Thar%20Coal%2027-07-2017%2013031-33.PDF</u>.
- 81. Shahbaz Rana, "Windfall for Chinese on Coal Fired Projects," *Express Tribune*, February 15, 2017, https://tribune.com.pk/story/1327172/windfall-chinese-coal-fired-projects/.
- 82. "Sindh Engro Seeks Reduction in Returns on Energy Projects," *Dawn*, November 12, 2018, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1445060</u>.
- 83. Ministry of Water and Power, *Power Generation Policy 2015, Gazette of Pakistan*, Extra, April 3, 2015, 15, <u>http://www.ppib.gov.pk/Power%20Policy%202015.pdf</u> and Ministry of Water and Power, *Policy for Power Generation Projects Year 2002*, 19.
- 84. China Power Construction Corporation Limited, "China Power Construction Corporation Limited Foreign Investment Announcement" (中国电力建设股份有限公司对外投资公告; Zhongguo dianli jianshe gufen youxian gongsi duiwai touzi baogao), Shanghai Stock Exchange (上海证券交易所; Shanghai zhengquan jiaoyisuo), April 9, 2015, <u>http://static.sse.</u> <u>com.cn/disclosure/listedinfo/announcement/c/2015-04-08/601669_20150409_2.pdf</u>.
- 85. Oracle Power PLC, "Powering Pakistan," March 2018, 7, <u>http://www.oraclepower.co.uk/</u><u>wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Oracle-Power-Presentation-March-2018-Final_190318</u>. pdf and Oracle Power PLC, "Issue of Letter of Intent and Notice to Proceed," February 12, 2018, <u>https://markets.ft.com/data/announce/detail?dockey=1323-13528914-</u> 0O24H71RFPS91NGCFRESIV4HFV.
- 86. "\$1.5bn Loan Pacts Signed for First Thar Coal Mining, Power Project," *Dawn*, December 22, 2015, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1227907</u> and Engro, "A Historic Milestone for Mining and Power Projects in Thar Block II as Sindh Engro Coal Mining Company and Engro Powergen Thar Limited Achieve Financial Close," <u>https://www.engro.com/news-center/a-historic-milestone-for-mining-and-power-projects/</u>.
- 87. "ECC Approves Plan to Set Up Special Funds for CPEC Project," *Dawn*, February 19, 2016, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/124056</u>.



- 88. "ECC Approves Plan to Set Up Special Funds for CPEC Project" and Nasir Jamal, "The Cost of CPEC," *Dawn*, March 12, 2017, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1320028</u>.
- 89. Zhang Yuqing, "Discussion on the Belt and Road Initiative Energy Cooperation Model—the Case Study of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor Project" ("一带一路"能源黑哦模式 探讨—以中巴经济走廊能源项目位列; "Yidai yilu" nengyuan hezuo moshi tantao—yi ZhongBa jingji zoulang nengyuan xiangmu weilie), *International Petroleum Economics* (国际石油经济; Guoji shiyou jingji) 25, no. 12 (2017): 15, China Academic Journals.
- 90. Fu Xiaowen, "From General Contracting to 'General Contracting + Investment and Financing'—Interview with Pang Xi, General Manager of the Asian Business Department of China Power Construction Group" (从总承包向"总承包+投融资"方向发展—访中国电力建设集 团有限公司海外事业部亚洲业务部总经理庞旭; Cong zong chengbao xiang "zong cheng bao + tou rongzi" fangxiang fazhan—fang Zhongguo dianli jianshe jituan youxian gongsi haiwai shiyebu Yazhou yewu bu zong jingli Pang Xu), *China Energy News* (中国能源报; Zhongguo nengyuan bao), April 27, 2015, <u>http://paper.people.com.cn/zgnyb/html/2015-04/27/</u> <u>content_1559250.htm</u>.
- 91. Shahbaz Rana, "ECC Approves Treaty to Protect Chinese Investors," *Express Tribune*, February 19, 2016, <u>https://tribune.com.pk/story/1050158/ecc-approves-treaty-to-protect-chinese-investors/</u>.
- 92. "2017 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List" (2017年电力工业统计基本数据一览表; 2017 nian dianli gongye tongji jiben shuju yilanbiao), October 9, 2018 and China Electricity Council, "2009 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List" (2009年电力工业统计基本数据一览 表; 2009 nian dianli gongye tongji jiben shuju yilanbiao), November 30, 2015. The reports are available at <u>http://www.cec.org.cn/guihuayutongji/tongjxinxi/niandushuju/</u>. Coal's share of thermal power generation capacity in 2017 was 88 percent. The China Electricity Council does not break down thermal generation capacity by fuel for 2008.
- 93. National Bureau of Statistics of China, "Generator Production (10 million watts)" (发电机 组产量 (万千瓦; Fadian jizu chaliang [qian wan wa]), <u>http://data.stats.gov.cn/easyquery.</u> <u>htm?cn=C01</u>; China Electricity Council, "2018 National Power Industry Statistics Quick Data List" (2018年全国电力工业统计快报一览表; 2018 nian quanguo dianli gongye tongji kuaibao yilanbiao); China Electricity Council, "2017 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List"; and China Electricity Council, "2009 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List."
- 94. National Bureau of Statistics of China, "Generator Production (10 million watts)"; China Electricity Council, "2014 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List" (2014年电力工业统计基本数据一览表; 2014 nian dianli gongye tongji jiben shuju yilanbiao), November 30, 2015, http://www.cec.org.cn/guihuayutongji/tongjxinxi/niandushuju/.
- 95. China Electricity Council, "2016 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List" (2016年电力工 业统计基本数据一览表; 2016 nian dianli gongye tongji jiben shuju yilanbiao), March 21, 2018, <u>http://www.cec.org.cn/guihuayutongji/tongjxinxi/niandushuju/</u> and China Electricity Council, "2009 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List."



- 96. "China's Shift to Clean Energies," European Parliament Briefing, May 2015, 1, <u>http://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/BRIE/2015/556981/EPRS_BRI(2015)556981_EN.pdf</u> and Alvin Lin, "How China's 13th Five Year Plan Climate and Energy Targets Accelerate Its Transition to Clean Energy," Natural Resources Defense Council, March 13, 2016, <u>https:// www.nrdc.org/experts/alvin-lin/how-chinas-13th-five-year-plan-climate-and-energytargets-accelerate-its</u>.
- Lin, "How China's 13th Five Year Plan Climate and Energy Targets Accelerate Its Transition to Clean Energy" and National Development and Reform Commission, "Enhanced Actions on Climate Change: China's Intended Nationally Determined Contributions," June 30, 2015, 5, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, <u>https://www4.unfccc.int/</u> <u>sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/China%20First/China%27s%20First%20NDC%20</u> <u>Submission.pdf</u>.
- 98. "China Steps Up Green Energy Push with Revised Renewable Target of 35 Per Cent by 2030," *South China Morning Post*, September 26, 2018, <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/china/politics/article/2165831/china-steps-green-energy-push-revised-renewable-target-35-2030</u>.
- 99. "Beijing Set to Ban Coal Use by 2020 to Cut Pollution," *Platts Coal Trader International,* August 5, 2015, Factiva.
- 100. Stephen Chen, "Beijing Shuts Down Its Last Coal-Fired Power Plant as Part of Bid to Clear Air," *South China Morning Post*, March 19, 2017, <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/china/society/article/2080270/beijing-shuts-down-its-last-coal-fired-power-plant-part-bid-clear</u>.
- 101. This paragraph is based on Melanie Hart, Luke Bassett, and Blaine Johnson, "Everything You Think You Know about Coal in China Is Wrong," Center for American Progress, May 15, 2017, <u>https://www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/reports/2017/05/15/432141/</u> <u>everything-think-know-coal-china-wrong/</u>.
- 102. Lauri Myllyvirta, "Burning Money: How China Could Squander over One Trillion Yuan on Unneeded Coal-Fired Capacity," Greenpeace, July 13, 2016, 1, <u>http://www.greenpeace.org/</u> <u>eastasia/publications/reports/climate-energy/2016/Burning-Money-/</u>.
- 103. China Electricity Council, "2017 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List"; China Electricity Council, "2016 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List"; China Electricity Council, "2015 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List" (2015年电力工业统计基本数据一览 表; 2015 nian dianli gongye tongji jiben shuju yilanbiao), September 22, 2016, <u>http://www.cec.org.cn/guihuayutongji/tongjxinxi/niandushuju/</u>; and China Electricity Council, "2014 Power Industry Statistics Basic Data List."
- 104. State Council of the People's Republic of China, "Guiding Opinions of the State Council on Resolving the Contradiction of Serious Overcapacity" (国务院关于化解产能严重过剩矛 盾的指导意见; Guowuyuan guanyu huajie channeng yanzhong guosheng maodun zhidao yijian), Central People's Government of the People's Republic of China (中华人民共和国中 央人民政府; Zhonghua renmin gongheguo zhongyang renmin zhengfu), October 15, 2013, http://www.gov.cn/zwgk/2013-10/15/content_2507143.htm.



- 105. State Council of the People's Republic of China, "Guiding Opinions of the State Council on Promotion of International Production Capacity and Equipment Manufacturing Cooperation" (国务院关于推进国际产能和装备制造合作的指导意见; Guowuyuan guanyu tuijin guoji channeng he zhuangbei zhizao hezuo de zhidao yijian), Central People's Government of the People's Republic of China (中华人民共和国中央人民政府; Zhonghua renmin gongheguo zhongyang renmin zhengfu), <u>http://www.gov.cn/zhengce/ content/2015-05/16/content_9771.htm</u>.
- 106. Wang Wei and Lu Xiaotong, "Li Keqiang Encourages Going Global to Push Up Power Equipment Stocks" (李克强鼓励走出去 催涨电力设备股; Li Keqiang guli zouchuqu cui zhang dianli shebei gu), *Caixin (*财新; *Caixin)*, January 5, 2015, <u>http://china.caixin.com/2015-01-05/100771192.html</u>.
- 107. 2017 Annual Report on the Development of the Electric Power Equipment Industry (2017 年电力装备行业发展年度报告; 2017 nian dianli zhuangbei hangye fazhan niandu baogao), China Power News Network (中电新闻网; Zhong dian xin wang), January 1, 2018, <u>http://</u> www.cnenergy.org/dl/201801/t20180105_449827.html.
- 108. "Increasingly Large-Scale and Diversified Overseas Investment Insurances Escorts Companies 'Going Out,'" (日益规模化、多元化 海外投资保险护航走出去; *Riyi guimohua, duoyuanhua haiwai touzi baoxian huhang zouchuqu), People's Daily Overseas Edition* (人民日报海外版; Renmin ribao haiwai ban), February 14, 2019, <u>https://www.chinaqw.com/</u> jjkj/2019/02-14/215318.shtml.
- 109. "Xinhua News Agency: SGCC to Invest in Pakistan Electricity Transmission and Transformation Project," State Grid Corporation of China, May 1, 2015, <u>http://www/sgcc.</u> <u>com.cn/ywlm/mediacenter/inspotlight/05/326144.shtml</u>.
- 110. "State Grid Corporation and the Government of Pakistan Sign Documents for Pakistan's First Direct Current Transmission Project" (国家电网公司与巴基斯坦政府签署该国首条直流输 电工程交易文件; Guojiawang gongsi yu Bajisitan zhengfu qianshu gai guo shou tiao zhiliu shudian gongcheng jiaoyi wenjian), *State Grid News* (国家电网报; Guojia dian wang bao), February 24, 2018, <u>http://www.cec.org.cn/yaowenkuaidi/2018-05-15/180554.html</u>.
- 111. State Council of the People's Republic of China, "Guiding Opinions of the State Council on Resolving the Contradiction of Serious Overcapacity."
- 112. State Council of the People's Republic of China, "Guiding Opinions of the State Council on Promotion of International Production Capacity and Equipment Manufacturing Cooperation."
- 113. "Full Text of Xi's Speech at Opening of Belt and Road Forum."
- 114. This paragraph is based on Christine Shearer, Melissa Brown, and Tim Buckley, "China at a Crossroads: Continued Support for Coal Power Erodes Clean Energy Leadership," Institute for Energy Economics and Financial Analysis, January 2019, 6–8, <u>http://ieefa.org/ wp-content/uploads/2019/01/China-at-a-Crossroads_January-2019.pdf</u>.



- 115. Sinosure, "Supporting the Belt and Road Initiative," <u>http://www.sinosure.com.cn/en/</u><u>Resbonsiblity/iec/index.shtml</u> and Sinosure, "Overseas Investment Insurance," <u>http://</u><u>www.sinosure.com.cn/en/Insurance/oii/index.shtml</u>.
- 116. Sinosure, "Overseas Investment Insurance" and Sinosure, "M/LT Export Credit Insurance," <u>http://www.sinosure.com.cn/en/Insurance/meci/index.shtml</u>.
- 117. NEPRA, "Determination of the Authority in the Matter of Petition Filed by CIHC Pak Power Company Limited for Approval of Generation License for 300 MW (Gross) Coal-Fired Power Plant at Gwadar," December 19, 2018, 18, <u>https://nepra.org.pk/Tariff/ IPPs/003%20Coal/CIHC%20Pak/TRF-434%20CPPCL%20Determination%2019-12-2018%2019549-51.PDF.</u>
- 118. Morgan Hervé-Mignucci and Xueying Wang, "Slowing the Growth of Coal Power Outside of China: The Role of Chinese Finance," Climate Policy Initiative, November 2015, 7, <u>https://climatepolicyinitiative.org/publication/slowing-the-growth-of-coal-power-outsidechina-the-role-of-chinese-finance/</u>.
- 119. "Sinosure Helps Deepen the Construction of the Belt and Road Initiative" (中国信保助" 一带一路"建设走深走实; Zhongguo xinbao zhu "yidai yilu" jinashe zou shen zou shi), *Sinosure News Online* (中国保险报网; Zhongguo baoxian bao wang), April 25, 2019, <u>http://</u> xw.sinoins.com/2019-04/25/content_289844.htm.
- 120. See, for example, NEPRA, "Tariff Determination for Coal-fired Power Plant at Gwadar," December 19, 2018, 29, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Tariff/IPPs/003%20Coal/CIHC%20</u> <u>Pak/TRF-434%20CPPCL%20Determination%2019-12-2018%2019549-51.PDF</u>; "A Solar Developer's Guide to Pakistan," International Finance Corporation, 2016, 21-22, <u>https:// www.ifc.org/wps/wcm/connect/topics_ext_content/ifc_external_corporate_site/ sustainability-at-ifc/publications/p_report_solardevelopersguidetopakistan; and Dan Taninecz Miller, "The China-Pakistan Economic Corridor: Indicator of Chinese Strategic Energy Goals and a Challenge to the Open Procurement Status Quo," Jackson School of International Studies, University of Washington, June 5, 3017, 26, <u>http://web.isanet.org/ Web/Conferences/HKU2017-s/Archive/a30ae7f2-83ba-4b48-b15c-3ebbe670d948.pdf</u>.</u>
- 121. He, Xiao, and Zang, "Analysis of Risk Allocation of Overseas Power Investment Project: A Case Study of Imported Coal-Fired Power BOO Project in Pakistan," 34; and China Power Construction Corporation Limited, "China Power Construction Corporation Limited Foreign Investment Announcement."
- 122. He, Xiao, and Zang, "Analysis of Risk Allocation of Overseas Power Investment Project: A Case Study of Imported Coal-Fired Power BOO Project in Pakistan," 34.
- 123. Saeed Shah, "Pakistan Turns to China in Energy Binge," *Wall Street Journal*, December 18, 2016, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/pakistan-turns-to-china-in-energy-binge-1482062404</u>.
- 124. Email from David Fridley, October 1, 2018.
- 125. "Pakistan's Government Is Fixing a Power Shortage," *Economist*, November 9, 2017.



- 126. "Sahiwal Plant Second Unit Opening Today," *Dawn*, July 3, 2017, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1342880</u>; "Sahiwal Power Plant—the First Inaugurated CPEC Project in Pakistan," *China Daily*, July 19, 2017, <u>http:///www.chinadaily.com.cn/m/powerchina/2017-07/19/content_30358906.htm</u>; and "China Electricity News: Casting a Milestone for 'One Belt, One Road': Design Led to the Miracle of Pakistan's Sahiwal Coal-Fired Power Project" (中国电力报: 铸就"一带一路"里程碑—设计引领巴基斯坦萨希瓦尔煤电项目创造奇迹; Zhongguo dianli bao: zhu jiu 'yidai yi lu' li chengbei—sheji yinling Bajisitan Saxiwaer meidian xiangmu chuangzao qiji), February 24, 2018, Shandong Electric Power Engineering Consulting Institute Corp., Inc., http://www.sdepci.com/art/2018/2/24/art 729 37713.html.
- 127. "China Economic Net: The Cumulative Generation of CPEC Sahiwal Power Plant Exceeds 14 Billion KwH" (中国经济网: CPEC萨希瓦尔电站累计发电量突破140亿千瓦时; Zhongguo jingji wang: CPEC Saxiwaer dianzhan leiji fadian tupo 140 yiqian washi), January 10, 2019, Economic Daily—*China Economic Net* (经济日报-中国经济; *Jingji ribao—Zhongguo jingji wang*),) http://m.ce.cn/bwzg/201901/02/t20190102_31164394.shtml?from=timeline.
- 128. "Port Qasim Power Station: A Pearl on the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor" (卡西姆 电站:中巴经济走廊上的一颗明珠; Kaximu dian zhan: ZhongBa jingji zouxiang shang de yi ke mingzhu), *Economic Daily* (经济日报; Jingji ribao) May 9, 2019, <u>http://intl.ce.cn/sjjj/</u> gy/201905/09/t20190509_32040344.shtml.
- 129. Li Yunan, "From 'Going Out' to 'Blending In': The Port Qasim Power Station Creates a Milestone in the New Era of Win-Win Cooperation"(从"走出去"到"融进去"卡 西姆电站开创新时代合作共赢里程碑; Cong 'zou chu qu' dao 'rong jin qu' Kaximu dianzhan kai chuangxin shidai hezuo gongying lichengbei), China Central Television Online (央视网; Yangshi wang), December 1, 2017, <u>http://news.cctv.com/2017/12/01/</u> <u>ARTIxV4kcWjINjSKobPdWkCE171201.shtml</u>.
- 130. Zhong Yuan, "PowerChina's Yan Zhiyong: The Belt and Road Projects Present "Golden" Economic Benefits Everywhere but it Takes Effort to Pick Them Up" (中国电建晏志勇: 一 带一路遍地黄金但不是想捡就能捡; Zhongguo dianjian Yan Zhiyong: yidai yilu biandi huangjin dan bushi xiang jian ju neng jian), *Economic Reference News (*经济参考报; *Jingji cankao bao)*, May 21, 2018, <u>http://finance.sina.com.cn/roll/2018-05-21/doc-ihaturft4523824.shtml</u>.
- 131. "PowerChina-Built Coal-Fired Power Plant Starts Operation," PowerChina, April 27, 2018, http://en.powerchina.cn/2018-04/27/content_36283339.htm.
- 132. Drazen Jorgic, "In Pakistan, China Presses Built-In Advantage for 'Silk Road' Contracts," *Reuters*, June 13, 2017, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-silkroad-pakistan-insight/</u> <u>in-pakistan-china-presses-built-in-advantage-for-silk-road-contracts-idUSKBN19503Y</u>.
- 133. Jorgic, "In Pakistan, China Presses Built-In Advantage for 'Silk Road' Contracts."
- 134. Zhang, "Discussion on the Belt and Road Initiative Energy Cooperation Model—the Case Study of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor Project," 14–15.



- 135. "China Power International: Hub Speed, Hub Spirit: China Power's Hub Unit 1 Successfully Connected to the Grid" (中电国际: 胡布速度、胡布精神——中电胡布1号机组成功并网发电; Zhongdian guoji: Hubu sudu, Hubu jingshen—Zhongdian Hubu yi hao jizu Chenggong bing wang fa dian), State Power Investment Corporation Limited, January 1, 2019, <u>http://</u> www.spic.com.cn/spic_m/xwzx/jctg/201901/t20190102_296792.html.
- 136. "China Machinery Equipment Engineering Company, Limited: Brand Creation in the Construction of 'One Belt, One Road'" – Take the Thar Coal and Electricity Project in Pakistan as an Example" (中国机械设备工程股份有限公司: "一带一路"建设中的品牌创新——以 巴基斯坦塔尔煤电一体化项目为例; Zhongguo jixie shebei gongcheng gufen youxian gongsi: 'yidai yilu' jianshe Zhong de pinpai chuangxin – yi Bajisitan Taer meidian yi tihua xiangmu weili), *People's Daily Online* – Tianjin Channel (人民网-天津频道; Renmin Wang – Tianjin pindao), June 8, 2017, <u>http://tj.people.com.cn/n2/2017/0608/c380747-30300277.html</u>.
- 137. Jonathan Elkind, "Toward a Real Green Belt and Road," Columbia University Center on Global Energy Policy, April 2019, 5, <u>https://energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/</u><u>file-uploads/Real%20Green%20Belt%20and%20Road_CGEP_Report_042219_Final.pdf</u>.
- 138. See, for example, Fernando Ascensão, Lenore Fahrig, Anthony P. Clevenger, Richard T. Corlett, Jochen A. G. Jaeger, William F. Laurance, and Henrique M. Pereira, "Environmental Challenges for the Belt and Road Initiative," *Nature Sustainability* 1 (May 2018): 206-209; Elizabeth Losos, Alexander Pfaff, Lydia Olander, Sara Mason, and Seth Morgan, "Reducing Environmental Risks from Belt and Road Initiative Investments in Transportation Infrastructure," Policy Research Working Paper 8718, World Bank Group, January 2019, <u>http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/700631548446492003/Reducing-Environmental-Risks-from-Belt-and-Road-Initiative-Investments-in-Transportation-Infrastructure;</u> and Isabel Hilton, "How China's Big Overseas Initiative Threatens Global Climate Progress, *Yale Environment 360*, January 3, 2019, <u>https://e360.yale.edu/features/how-chinas-big-overseas-initiative-threatens-climate-progress</u>.
- 139. Ma Jun and Simon Zadek, "A Low Carbon Belt and Road," Project Syndicate, March 28, 2019, <u>https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/climate-change-belt-and-road-infrastructure-investment-by-ma-jun-and-simon-zadek-2019-03</u>.
- 140. Lihuan Zhou, Sean Gilbert, Ye Wang, Miquel Muñoz Cabré, and Kevin P. Gallagher, "Moving the Green Belt and Road Initiative: From Words to Actions," World Resources Institute, November 2018, 13, <u>https://www.wri.org/publication/moving-green-belt-and-roadinitiative-from-words-to-actions</u>.
- 141. Fitch Solutions, "Belt and Road: Coal Power Exports to Remain Key Focus," July 31, 2018, <u>https://www.fitchsolutions.com/corporates/utilities-power/belt-and-road-coal-power-exports-remain-key-focus-31-07-2018</u>.
- 142. "Sector Assistance Program Evaluation (SAPE) for the Pakistan Power Sector," Asian Development Bank, January 26, 2018, 4–5, <u>https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/ evaluation-document/397216/files/eap-pak-spe-energy.pdf</u> and Pakistan's Intended Nationally Determined Contribution (PAK-INDC), United Nations Climate Change, <u>https:// www4.unfccc.int/sites/ndcstaging/PublishedDocuments/Pakistan%20First/Pak-INDC.pdf</u>.



- 143. "Pakistan Goes against the Grain with Coal Power Spree," *Dawn*, November 16, 2018, https://www.dawn.com/news/1445923.
- 144. "Sector Assistance Program Evaluation (SAPE) for the Pakistan Power Sector," 4–5 and Christopher Mele, "What Is Coal Ash and Why Is It Dangerous?" *New York Times*, September 21, 2018, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/09/21/us/coal-ash-spill-dam-breach.html</u>.
- 145. United States Environmental Protection Agency, "Lignite Combustion," <u>https://www3.epa.</u> gov/ttnchie1/ap42/ch01/final/c01s07.pdf.
- 146. Amar Guriro, "Pakistan's Coal Expansion Brings Misery to Villagers in Thar Desert," China Dialogue, December 9, 2016, <u>https://www.chinadialogue.net/article/show/single/en/9224-Pakistan-s-coal-expansion-brings-misery-to-villagers-in-Thar-desert</u> and Zofeen T. Ebrahim, "Economy vs. Environment: Thar Coal and a Test of Pakistan's Priorities," Dawn, February 22, 2017, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1314947</u>.
- 147. "Guideline for Establishing the Green Financials System," *China Daily*, September 4, 2016, <u>http://usa.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2016-09/04/content_26692956.htm</u>.
- 148. "MEP Issues the Guidance on Promoting Green Belt and Road with Three Line Ministries," May 8, 2017, Belt and Road Portal, <u>https://eng.yidaiyilu.gov.cn/qwyw/rdxw/12484.htm</u> and "Guidance on Promoting Green Belt and Road," May 8, 2017, Belt and Road Portal, <u>https:// eng.yidaiyilu.gov.cn/zchj/qwfb/12479.htm</u>.
- 149. "Full Text of Xi's Speech at Opening of Belt and Road Forum."
- 150. "SCIO Briefing on China's Policies and Actions for Addressing Climate Change (2018)," November 26, 2018, <u>http://www.china.org.cn/china/2018-11/26/content_74210582_6.htm</u>.
- 151. Xi Jinping, "Working Together to Deliver a Brighter Future for Belt and Road Cooperation," Keynote Speech at the Opening Ceremony of the Second Belt and Road Forum for International Cooperation, April 26, 2019, <u>https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/ zxxx_662805/t1658424.shtml</u>.
- 152. "Sindh, Shenhua Sign Pact for Feasibility: Thar Coal, *Dawn*, May 15, 2002, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/34143</u>.
- 153. For more on Beijing's promotion of different types of power generation equipment, see State Council of the People's Republic of China, "Guiding Opinions of the State Council on Promotion of International Production Capacity and Equipment Manufacturing Cooperation."
- 154. Drazen Jorgic, "Fearing Debt Trap, Pakistan Rethinks Chinese 'Silk Road' Projects," *Reuters*, September 30, 2018, <u>https://uk.reuters.com/article/us-pakistan-silkroad-railway-insight/fearing-debt-trap-pakistan-rethinks-chinese-silk-road-projects-idUKKCN1MA028</u>.
- 155. Ministry of Foreign Affairs of the People's Republic of China, "Wang Yi: Far From Aggravating the Debt Burden of Pakistan, the Construction of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor (CPEC) Has Delivered Tangible Outcomes," September 8, 2018, https://www.fmprc.gov.cn/mfa_eng/zxxx_662805/t1593886.shtml.



- 156. Chris Kay and Ismail Dilawar, "Imran Khan Aims to Make Graft-Prone Pakistan a Welfare State," Bloomberg, July 5, 2018, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-07-05/</u> <u>imran-khan-seeks-to-make-graft-ridden-pakistan-a-welfare-state</u> and Salman Masood, "Imran Khan Calls for Vast Anti-poverty Plan But Money Is Tight," *New York Times*, March 28, 2019, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2019/03/28/world/asia/imran-khan-pakistan-poverty.html</u>.
- 157. Khaleeq Khani, "Govt Puts Major CPEC Power Project on Hold," *Dawn*, January 14, 2019, https://www.dawn.com/news/1457449.
- 158. Mansoor Malik, "CPEC Scope to Be Widened, Says Bakhtiar," *Dawn*, January 21, 2019, https://www.dawn.com/news/1458811.
- 159. "Pakistan to Become Energy Self-Sufficient within Three Years, Says PowerChina Resources Chief; New Venture Would Be Industrial Parks: Shen Yuming," *Pakistan Observer*, May 10, 2019, <u>https://www.energycentral.com/news/pakistan-become-energy-</u> sufficient-three-year-says-powerchina-resources-chief-new-venture-would.
- 160. "Sahiwal Project: A Power Construction Miracle," PowerChina, October 1, 2018, <u>http://</u> <u>en.powerchina.cn/2018-10/01/content_37100415.htm</u>.
- 161. "Hub Coal-Fired Power Plant to Widely Benefit Pakistanis, Says Chinese Entrepreneur," *China Daily*, March 24, 2017, <u>http://www.chinadaily.com.cn/business/2017-03/24/</u> <u>content_28668726.htm</u>.
- 162. NEPRA, Generation License for Port Qasim Power Company (Pvt.) Limited, 6; NEPRA, Generation License for Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Pakistan) Energy (Private) Limited, June 10, 2015, 11, <u>https://nepra.org.pk/Licences/Generation/IPP-2002/LAG-292%20</u> <u>Huaneng%20Shandong%20Generation%20Licence%2010-06-2015.PDF</u>; and NEPRA, Generation License for China Power Hub Generation Company (Private) Limited, September 8, 2016, 9, <u>https://www.nepra.org.pk/Licences/Generation/IPP-2002/</u> <u>China%20Power%20Hub%20Generation%20Company/Generation%20License%20LAG-314%20CPHGCPL%2007-09-2016%2012577-82.PDF</u>.
- 163. Natural Resources Defense Council, "Power Shift: Shifting G20 International Public Finance from Coal to Renewables," December 2017, 18, <u>https://www.nrdc.org/sites/default/files/power-shift-g20-international-public-finance-coal-renewables-report.pdf</u>.
- 164. NEPRA, Generation License for Port Qasim Power Company (Pvt.) Limited, 7–8; NEPRA, Generation License for Huaneng Shandong Ruyi (Pakistan) Energy (Private) Limited, 13; and NEPRA, Generation License for China Power Hub Generation Company (Private) Limited, 10.
- 165. Asian Development Bank, "Project Administration Manual, Islamic Republic of Pakistan: Jamshoro Power Generation Project," October 2013, 1, <u>https://www.adb.org/sites/default/files/project-document/79768/47094-001-pam.pdf</u>.
- 166. Asian Development Bank, "Project Administration Manual, Islamic Republic of Pakistan: Jamshoro Power Generation Project," 1.
- 167. This paragraph is based on an email from Deborah Seligsohn, June 21, 2019.



- 168. NEPRA, "Tariff Determination for Coal-Fired Power Plant at Gwadar," 9.
- 169. NEPRA, "Determination of the Authority in the Matter of Upfront Generation Tariff for the Projects on Thar Coal," 34.
- 170. Oracle Power PLC, "Issue of Letter of Intent and Notice to Proceed."
- 171. John Hurley, Scott Morris, and Gailyn Portelance, "Examining the Debt Implications of the Belt and Road Initiative from a Policy Perspective," Center for Global Development Policy Paper 121, March 2018, <u>https://www.cgdev.org/sites/default/files/examining-debtimplications-belt-and-road-initiative-policy-perspective.pdf</u>.
- 172. Christine Lagarde, "Belt and Road Initiative: Strategies to Deliver in the Next Phase," International Monetary Fund, April 12, 2018, <u>https://www.imf.org/en/News/</u> <u>Articles/2018/04/11/sp041218-belt-and-road-initiative-strategies-to-deliver-in-the-next-phase</u>.
- 173. "Transcript of the Press Conference on the Release of the October 2018 World Economic Outlook," International Monetary Fund, October 9, 2018, <u>https://www.imf.org/en/News/</u> <u>Articles/2018/10/09/tr100918-transcript-of-press-conference-on-release-of-october-</u> <u>2018-world-economic-outlook</u>.
- 174. Josh Zumbrum and Siobhan Hughes, "To Counter China, U.S. Looks to Invest Billions More Overseas," *Wall Street Journal*, August 31, 2018, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/to-counterchina-u-s-looks-to-invest-billions-more-overseas-1535728206</u>.
- 175. "Grassley, Senators Express Concerns over China's 'Debt Trap' Diplomacy with Developing Countries," August 10, 2018, <u>https://www.grassley.senate.gov/news/news-releases/</u> grassley-senators-express-concerns-over-china-s-debt-trap-diplomacy-developing.
- 176. Patrick Kelley, "Don't Let China Snag Another Foreign Port," *Roll Call*, August 7, 2018, <u>https://www.rollcall.com/news/politics/senators-us-push-imf-china-economic-expansion</u>.
- 177. W. Gyude Moore, "The Language of 'Debt-Trap-Diplomacy' Reflects Western Anxieties, Not African Realities," Quartz, September 17, 2018, <u>https://qz.com/1391770/the-anxious-chorusaround-chinese-debt-trap-diplomacy-doesnt-reflect-african-realities/</u>. See also Agatha Kratz, Allen Feng, and Logan Wright, "New Data on the 'Debt Trap' Question," Rhodium Group. April 29, 2019, <u>https://rhg.com/research/new-data-on-the-debt-trap-question/</u>.
- 178. Maria Abi-Habib, "How China Got Sri Lanka to Cough Up a Port," *New York Times*, June 25, 2018, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/06/25/world/asia/china-sri-lanka-port.html</u>.
- 179. Ben Blanchard, "Sri Lanka Requests Equity Swap for Some of Its \$8 bln China Debt," *Reuters*, April 9, 2016, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/china-sri-lanka/sri-lanka-requests-equity-swap-for-some-of-its-8-bln-china-debt-idUSL3N17B1BR</u>.



- 180. China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited, "Update on Discloseable Transaction Concession Agreement in Relation to Hambantota Port, Sri Lanka," Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, December 8, 2017, <u>http://www.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/</u><u>SEHK/2017/1208/LTN20171208835.pdf</u> and China Merchants Port Holdings Company Limited, "Potential Discloseable Transaction Agreement in Relation to Hambantota Port, Sri Lanka," The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, July 25, 2017, <u>http://www.hkexnews.hk/</u> <u>listedco/listconews/SEHK/2017/0725/LTN20170725444.pdf</u>.
- 181. Hurley, Morris, and Portelance, "Examining the Debt Implications of the Belt and Road Initiative from a Policy Perspective."
- 182. International Monetary Fund (IMF), "Pakistan: Request for an Extended Arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility," June 20, 2019, 38, <u>https://www.imf.org/en/</u> <u>Publications/CR/Issues/2019/07/08/Pakistan-Request-for-an-Extended-Arrangement-</u> <u>Under-the-Extended-Fund-Facility-Press-Release-47092</u>.
- 183. MariaAbi-Habib, "Pakistan Seeks I.M.F. Bailout as Government Sends Mixed Messages," New York Times, October 11, 2018, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/10/11/world/asia/pakistan-imf-bailout-imran-khan.html</u> and Hanna Luchnikava-Schorsch and Asad Ali, "Pakistan to Seek IMF Bailout after Efforts to Stem External Imbalances, Deteriorating Debt Sustainability Fall," *IHS Global Insight Daily Analysis*, October 15, 2018, Factiva.
- 184. IMF, "IMF Executive Board Approves US\$6 Billion 39-Month Extended Fund Facility Arrangement for Pakistan," Press Release No. 19/264, July 3, 2019, <u>https://www.imf.org/en/Publications/CR/Issues/2019/07/08/Pakistan-Request-for-an-Extended-Arrangement-Under-the-Extended-Fund-Facility-Press-Release-47092.</u>
- 185. IMF, "Pakistan: Request for an Extended Arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility," 43–44.
- 186. World Bank, "Karot Hydropower Plant," Private Participation in Infrastructure Database, http://ppi.worldbank.org/snapshots/project/karot-hydropower-plant-9030.
- 187. This paragraph is based on Malik, Qasim, and Saeed, "Green Finance in Pakistan: Barriers and Solutions."
- 188. I thank David Dollar for this point.
- 189. On the five devaluations, see Faseeh Mangi, "Pakistan Devalues Rupee Fifth Time This Year Amid IMF Talks," Bloomberg, November 30, 2018, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/</u> <u>news/articles/2018-11-30/pakistan-s-rupee-falls-in-apparent-devaluation-amid-imf-talks</u>.
- 190. "\$1.5bn Loan Pacts Signed for First Thar Coal Mining, Power Project," Dawn, December 22, 2015, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1227907</u> and Engro, "A Historic Milestone for Mining and Power Projects in Thar Block II as Sindh Engro Coal Mining Company and Engro Powergen Thar Limited Achieve Financial Close."



- 191. This paragraph is based on Masahiro Kawai, Richard Newfarmer, and Sergio L. Schmukler, "Financial Crises: Nine Lessons from East Asia," *Eastern Economic Journal* 31, no. 2 (Spring 2005), <u>http://siteresources.worldbank.org/DEC/Resources/FinancialCrisesNineLessonsfromEastAsiaJournal.pdf</u> and "Gold from the Storm—East Asian Economies," *Economist* 383, no. 8535 (June 30, 2007): 83, Proquest.
- 192. Arif Rafiq, "CPEC: A Paucity of Planning by Pakistan," Global Village Space, April 9, 2018, <u>https://www.globalvillagespace.com/cpec-a-paucity-of-planning-by-pakistan/</u>.
- 193. Khaleeq Kiani, "Govt Clears 480 Bn Circular Debt," Dawn, July 23, 2013, <u>http://www.dawn.</u> <u>com/news/1031180</u>. Rupees converted to US dollars using the Oanda currency converter and the date of June 22, 2013, the day the government cleared the debt.
- 194. "Ministry of Energy Issues Rs200bn 'Pakistan Energy Sukuk," *Dawn*, March 2, 2019, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/1467190</u> and "Update 1—Pakistan to Launch 200 bln Rupee Islamic Sukuk to Ease Power Sector Debt," *Reuters*, January 29, 2019, <u>https://www. reuters.com/article/pakistan-power/update-1-pakistan-to-launch-200-bln-rupee-islamicsukuk-to-ease-power-sector-debt-idUSL3N1ZT4B7.</u>
- 195. Andrew Batson, "The Belt and Road Is about Domestic Interest Groupe, Not Development," May 2, 2019, <u>https://andrewbatson.com/2019/05/02/the-belt-and-road-is-about-domestic-interest-groups-not-development/</u> and Mark Akpaninyie, "China's 'Debt Diplomacy' Is a Misnomer. Call It 'Crony Diplomacy,'" *Diplomat*, March 12, 2019, <u>https://thediplomat.com/2019/03/chinas-debt-diplomacy-is-a-misnomer-call-it-crony-diplomacy/</u>.
- 196. "Massive Chinese Investment Is a Boon for Pakistan," *Economist*, September 9, 2017, <u>https://www.economist.com/asia/2017/09/09/massive-chinese-investment-is-a-boon-for-pakistan</u>.
- 197. "Opinion of China," Global Indicators Database, Pew Research Center, 2015, <u>https://www.pewresearch.org/global/database/indicator/24</u>.
- 198. Email from Andrew Small, April 3, 2019.
- 199. Shi Zhiqun and Lu Yang, "The Benefits and Risks of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor," Carnegie-Tsinghua Center for Global Policy, December 21, 2016, <u>https://</u> <u>carnegietsinghua.org/2016/12/21/benefits-and-risks-of-china-pakistan-economic-</u> <u>corridor-pub-66507</u> and Andrew Small, "Buyer's Remorse: Pakistan's Elections and the Precarious Future of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor," War on the Rocks, July 27, 2018, <u>https://warontherocks.com/2018/07/buyers-remorse-pakistans-elections-and-the-</u> <u>precarious-future-of-the-china-pakistan-economic-corridor/</u>.
- 200. Email from Andrew Small, August 1, 2019.
- 201. Daniel S. Markey and James West, "Behind China's Gambit in Pakistan," Council on Foreign Relations, May 12, 2016, <u>https://www.cfr.org/expert-brief/behind-chinas-gambit-pakistan</u>.



- 202. Saeed Shah, "With U.S. Aid Cut, Pakistan Drifts Closer to China," *Wall Street Journal*, January 10, 2018, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/with-u-s-aid-cut-pakistan-drifts-closer-</u> <u>to-china-1515580200</u> and Sui-Lee Wee, "Analysis: China to Keep Pakistan Embrace at Arm's Length," *Reuters*, October 3, 2011, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-</u> <u>pakistan-idUSTRE7930G920111004</u>.
- 203. China Says Military Ties 'Backbone' to Relations with Pakistan," *Reuters*, September 18, 2018, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-china-pakistan-defence/china-says-military-ties-backbone-to-relations-with-pakistan-idUSKCN1LZ03P</u>.
- 204. Andrew Small, "China-Pakistan: A Strategic Relationship in the Shadows," *YaleGlobal Online*, April 7, 2015, <u>https://yaleglobal.yale.edu/content/china-pakistan-strategic-relationship-shadows</u>.
- 205. Jeffrey Becker, Erica Downs, Ben DeThomas, and Patrick deGategno, *China's Presence in the Middle East and Western Indian Ocean: Beyond Belt and Road*, Center for Naval Analyses, February 2019, 41, <u>https://www.cna.org/CNA_files/PDF/DRM-2018-U-018309-Final2.pdf</u>.
- 206. IMF, "Pakistan: Request for an Extended Arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility," 19.
- 207. Email from David Dollar, July 29, 2019.
- 208. IMF, "Pakistan: Request for an Extended Arrangement under the Extended Fund Facility," 19.
- 209. Ministry of Finance of People's Republic of China, "Debt Sustainability Framework for Participating Countries of the Belt and Road Initiative," April 25, 2019, <u>http://m.mof.gov.</u> <u>cn/czxw/201904/P020190425513990982189.pdf</u>.
- 210. Frank Tang, "China Seeks to Allay Belt and Road 'Debt Trap' Concerns with Standard for Assessing Financial Risk," *South China Morning Post*, April 25, 2019, <u>https://www.scmp.com/news/china/diplomacy/article/3007714/china-seeks-allay-belt-and-road-debt-trap-concerns-standard</u>.
- 211. Ministry of Finance of People's Republic of China, "Debt Sustainability Framework for Participating Countries of the Belt and Road Initiative," 1; and Tang, "China Seeks to Allay Belt and Road 'Debt Trap' Concerns with Standard for Assessing Financial Risk."
- 212. Gillian Tett, "China Grapples with Its BRI Lending Binge," *Financial Times*, May 2, 2019, https://www.ft.com/content/c976cde2-6cd0-11e9-80c7-60ee53e6681d.
- 213. Shanghai Electric Group Company Limited, "Connected Transaction: The Proposed Establishment of the Dubai Company," Stock Exchange of Hong Kong, July 24, 2015, <u>https://www1.hkexnews.hk/listedco/listconews/sehk/2015/0724/ltn20150724529.pdf</u>.



- 214. "China Power Construction Corporation Contract for the Sahiwal Power Project in Pakistan is Complete" (中电建总承包巴基斯坦萨希瓦尔电站项目竣工; Zhongdian jianzong chengbao Bajisitan Saxiwa'er dianzhan xiangmu jungong); China Power News Network (中国电力新闻网; Zhongguo dianli xinwen wang), August 22, 2018, <u>http://www.</u> cnenergynews.cn/dl/201808/t20180822_683278.html.
- 215. International Finance Corporation (IFC), "IFC Supports Groundbreaking New Hydropower Project in Pakistan to Address Power Deficits," March 14, 2017, <u>https://ifcextapps.ifc.org/ifcext/pressroom/ifcpressroom.</u> nsf/0/87E27D3F35AC5B2A852580E30033D03D.
- 216. Oracle Power LLC, Project Timeline, <u>http://www.oraclepower.co.uk/about-us/project-timeline/</u>.
- 217. "PM Opens over 1,300 MW Port Qasim Coal-Fired Power Project," *News*, November 30, 2017, <u>https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/250848-pm-opens-over-1-300-mw-port-gasim-coal-fired-power-project</u>.
- 218. "870 MW Suki Kinari Hydropower Project Achieves Financial Close," *Associated Press* of *Pakistan*, January 9, 2017, <u>https://www.app.com.pk/870-mw-suki-kinari-hydropower-</u> project-achieves-financial-close/.
- 219. The Hub Power Company Limited, Analyst Briefing, April 2, 2019, <u>https://www.hubpower.com/wp-content/uploads/2019/04/Analyst-Briefing.pdf</u>.
- 220. Sindh Engro Coal Mining Company, Financial Statements for the Year Ended December 21, 3016, 13-14, <u>https://www.engroenergy.com/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/SECMC-Accounts-Dec-2016-Standalone-Signed-Copy-FINAL.pdf</u>
- 221. IFC, "IFC Supports Groundbreaking New Hydropower Project in Pakistan to Address Power Deficits."
- 222. IFC, "IFC Supports Groundbreaking New Hydropower Project in Pakistan to Address Power Deficits."
- 223. Yasheng Huang, "Can the Belt and Road Become a Trap for China?" Project Syndicate, May 22, 2019, <u>https://www.project-syndicate.org/commentary/china-belt-road-initiative-trap-by-yasheng-huang-2019-05</u>.
- 224. "ECC Approves Plan to Set Up Special Funds for CPEC Project," *Dawn*, February 19, 2016, <u>https://www.dawn.com/news/124056</u>
- 225. Zhang Yuqing, "Discussion on the Belt and Road Initiative Energy Cooperation Model - The Case Study of the China-Pakistan Economic Corridor Project" ("一带一路"能源黑 哦模式探讨 - 以中巴经济走廊能源项目位列; "Yidai yilu" nengyuan hezuo moshi tantao - yi ZhongBa jingji zoulang nengyuan xiangmu weilie), International Petroleum Economics (国际石油经济; Guoji shiyou jingji), Vo. 25, No. 12 (2017), 15, China Academic Journals; Fu Xiaowen, "From General Contracting to "General Contracting + Investment and Financing"—Interview with Pang Xi, General Manager of the Asian Business Department



of China Power Construction Group" (从总承包向"总承包+投融资"方向发展——访中国电力建 设集团有限公司海外事业部亚洲业务部总经理庞旭; Cong zong chengbao xiang "zong cheng bao + tou rongzi" fangxiang fazhan - fang Zhongguo dianli jianshe jituan youxian gongsi haiwai shiyebu Yazhou yewu bu zong jingli Pang Xu), China Energy News (中国能源报; Zhongguo nengyuan bao), April 27, 2015, <u>http://paper.people.com.cn/zgnyb/html/2015-04/27/content_1559250.htm</u>.

- 226. Khalid Mustafa, "Delayed Payments Irritate Chinese Companies Working Under CPEC," *The News*, December 19, 2018, <u>https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/407726-delayed-payments-irritate-chinese-companies-working-under-cpec</u>.
- 227. Munawar Hasan, "Sahiwal Coal-fired Power Plants Feared Closure on Non-Payment of Dues," The News, April 3, 2018, <u>https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/299722-sahiwal-coal-fired-power-plants-feared-closure-on-non-payment-of-dues</u>.
- 228. Salman Siddiqui, "CPEC's First Power Project Mired in Financial Difficulties," *Express Tribune*, May 10, 2019, <u>https://tribune.com.pk/story/1969593/2-cpecs-first-power-project-mired-financial-difficulties/</u>.
- 229. Salman Siddiqui, "CPEC's First Power Project Mired in Financial Difficulties," *Express Tribune*, May 10, 2019, <u>https://tribune.com.pk/story/1969593/2-cpecs-first-power-project-mired-financial-difficulties/</u>.
- 230. "IPPs Invoke Sovereign Guarantee for Rs48bln Dues," *The News*, March 4, 2017, <u>https://www.thenews.com.pk/print/189984-IPPs-invoke-sovereign-guarantee-for-Rs48bln-dues</u>; Shabaz Rana, "Power Sector Dues: Govt Defaults on Sovereign Guarantees," *Express Tribune*, May 9, 2012, <u>https://tribune.com.pk/story/376152/power-sector-dues-govt-defaults-on-sovereign-guarantees/</u>.
- 231. See, for example, Steve Inskeep, "Why Is China Placing a Global Bet on Coal?" NPR, April 29, 2019, <u>https://www.npr.org/2019/04/29/716347646/why-is-china-placing-a-global-bet-on-coal</u> and Emily Feng, "China Spends \$36bn on Coal-Fired Power Despite Emissions Goals," *Financial Times*, January 21, 2019, <u>https://www.ft.com/content/baaa32dc-1d42-11e9-b126-46fc3ad87c65</u> and Hiroko Tabuchi, "As Beijing Joins Climate Fight, Chinese Companies Build Coal Plants," *New York Times*, July 1, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/07/01/climate/china-energy-companies-coal-plants-climate-change.html</u>.





